Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Biochimica et Biophysica Acta

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/bbamem

Antimicrobial peptides and their interaction with biofilms of medically relevant bacteria

Giovanna Batoni*, Giuseppantonio Maisetta, Semih Esin

Department of Translational Research and New Technologies in Medicine and Surgery, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Article history: Received 3 July 2015 Received in revised form 16 October 2015 Accepted 18 October 2015 Available online 23 October 2015

Keywords: Biofilm Antimicrobial peptides Extracellular DNA Antibiofilm drugs Biofilm matrix Biofilm exopolysaccharides Biofilm proteins Biofilm-associated infections represent one of the major threats of modern medicine. Biofilm-forming bacteria are encased in a complex mixture of extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) and acquire properties that render them highly tolerant to conventional antibiotics and host immune response. Therefore, there is a pressing demand of new drugs active against microbial biofilms. In this regard, antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) represent an option taken increasingly in consideration. After dissecting the peculiar biofilm features that may greatly affect the development of new antibiofilm drugs, the present article provides a general overview of the rationale behind the use of AMPs against biofilms of medically relevant bacteria and on the possible mechanisms of AMP-antibiofilm activity. An analysis of the interactions of AMPs with biofilm components, especially those constituting the EPS, and the obstacles and/or opportunities that may arise from such interactions in the development of new AMP-based antibiofilm strategies is also presented and discussed. This article is part of a Special Issue entitled: Antimicrobial Peptides edited by Karl Lohner and Kai Hilpert.

© 2015 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	. Introduction: medical importance of biofilm-associated infections	1	1045					
2.	Antibiofilm drug-development: properties of an "ideal" antibiofilm agent	1	1046					
	2.1. Display rapid killing ability	1	1046					
	2.2. Act in different microenvironments and target slow growing or even non-growing cells	1	1047					
	2.3. Penetrate the extracellular matrix and/or interfere with its production	1	1047					
	2.4. Interfere with bacterial cell communication machinery	1	1047					
	2.5. Modulate host response to biofilm	1	1047					
	2.6. Synergize with other conventional and unconventional antimicrobial compounds	1	1048					
3.	. Rational of using antimicrobial peptides as therapeutic strategies against microbial biofilms	1	1048					
4. Difficulties in testing AMP-antibiofilm properties								
5.	. Unraveling the mechanisms of the antibiofilm activity of AMPs	1	1049					
6.	. Interactions of antimicrobial peptides with biofilm components and their role in biofilm resistance to AMPs	1	1051					
	6.1. Interaction of AMPs with extracellular DNA, a common component of a variety of bacterial and fungal biofilms	1	1052					
	6.2. Interaction of AMPs with alginate and other polysaccharides, major components of biofilms of P. aeruginosa and other pulmonary path	hogens 1	1053					
	6.3. Interaction of AMPs with PIA of staphylococcal biofilms	1	1054					
	6.4. Interaction of AMPs with biofilm or host proteins	1	1055					
7.	Conclusions and future directions	1	1056					
Transparency document								
Ackı	Acknowledgments							
Refe	References							

☆ This article is part of a Special Issue entitled: Antimicrobial Peptides edited by Karl Lohner and Kai Hilpert.

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: giovanna.batoni@med.unipi.it (G. Batoni).



Review





1. Introduction: medical importance of biofilm-associated infections

Over the last decades, microbiologists and infectious disease specialists have experienced a radical change in the way to face infections [1]. The classical, acutely evolving and antibiotic treatable infectious diseases that have caused millions of deaths till the mid of the last century (e.g. tetanus, diphtheria, cholera) have progressively left the scene to infections characterized by chronic development that often alternates with phases of acute exacerbations, refractory to antimicrobial treatments, and displaying undefined pathogenic mechanisms [1] (Fig. 1). While the classical, acutely evolving infections are thought to involve independent, free-floating (planktonic) microbial cells, extensive in vitro and in vivo studies have provided the notion that many types of chronic infections are sustained by sessile microbial aggregates known as biofilms. An exhaustive definition of biofilms, that takes into consideration the peculiar attributes of biofilm organisms, has been proposed by Donlan and Costerton in 2002: "a biofilm is as microbially derived sessile community characterized by cells that are irreversibly attached to a substratum or interface or to each other, are embedded in a matrix of extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) that they have produced, and exhibit an altered phenotype with respect to growth rate and gene transcription" [2]. Hallmarks of biofilm-associated infections are i) a dramatically reduced susceptibility to commonly used antibiotics, despite the fact that cells isolated from the biofilm may be susceptible to the same drugs, and ii) a high capacity to resist the clearance by host innate and adaptive immune responses [3-5]. Both of these factors play a major role in treatment failure and persistence of the infections caused by sessile microorganisms.

Overall, biofilm-associated infections may be subdivided into two main categories [6,7]. The first one involves biofilm formation on host tissues (e.g. epithelia, mucosal surfaces, teeth). Examples of this type of infections are pulmonary infections in cystic fibrosis (CF) patients, foot ulcer infections in diabetic patients, chronic otitis media or rhinosinusitis, chronic prostatitis, recurrent urinary tract infections, and dental caries or periodontitis. The second type of infections may arise from microbial colonization of abiotic surfaces such as those of indwelling medical devices (e.g. central venous or urinary catheters, joint or dental prostheses, heart valves, endotracheal tubes, intrauterine devices, dental implants and many others) [6,7]. A crucial feature of biomaterial-associated infections is that microbial cells may detach from biofilms and disseminate to the surrounding tissues or to the bloodstream, further exacerbating the clinical outcome of the infection [1].

With the increased use of medical devices in health care procedures, biofilm-associated infections have emerged as a major problem in different clinical disciplines. It is estimated that up to 80% of microbial infections in the human body involve biofilm formation, greatly contributing to morbidity and mortality, especially in hospital settings [8,9]. Indeed, the management of biofilm-associated infections is problematic as they are difficult to prevent, diagnose, and treat.

Undoubtedly, one of the most medically relevant biofilm property is the severely reduced susceptibility to antimicrobials, which is considered a multifactorial process [4]. Beside the classical resistance mechanisms, due to the acquisition of mobile genetic elements, several other biofilm-specific resistance mechanisms have been proposed. These include: reduced diffusion or sequestration of antimicrobials through

Types of infections prevalent until the mid-twentieth century	Types of infections prevalent nowadays					
Acute development	Chronic progression, often recurrent					
Controlled by antibiotics and vaccines	Highly recalcitrant to antimicrobial therapy; no vaccine available					
 Defined pathogenic mechanisms; severe symptoms 	 Undefined pathogenic mechanisms; generally mild symptoms, but highly debilitating 					
 Involvement of specific highly pathogenic etiological agents, cultivable from infected tissues 	 Possible involvement of microorganisms making part of the normal flora; culture from infected tissues often negative 					
	 large aggregates of bacteria surrounded by an extracellular matrix visible on tissues or medical devices at the site of infection. 					
Free-floating (planktonic) cell-involvement	Biofilm-involvement					

Fig. 1. Comparison of the main features of infections caused by planktonic cells (on the left) and by sessile aggregates of microorganisms known as biofilms (on the right). The two types of infections greatly differ for important aspects regarding prevention modalities, diagnosis, therapy and clinical outcome. Along with the increased use of medical devices in health care procedures, biofilm-associated infections have emerged as an alarming reality of modern medicine. The different colors of bacterial cells represent the heterogeneity of the metabolic status of microorganisms within a biofilm or, in mixed-species biofilms, the diversity of the cells constituting the community. The shadowed area in the biofilm represents the extracellular polymeric substance.

the extracellular matrix, low growth rate of biofilm cells, presence of dormant cells virtually tolerant to all drugs ("persisters") [3,4,10]. The treatment of biofilm-associated infections is so burdensome that often the only option is to remove the colonized medical device or to undergo surgical debridement of the biofilm-infected tissue [8,10].

Given the intrinsic resistance of biofilms to antimicrobial therapy, particularly pressing is the discovery of new compounds able to target not only planktonic cells, but also specific features of the sessile lifestyle. In this regard, various innovative antibiofilm approaches have been proposed over the last few years aimed at limiting microbial adhesion to biotic and abiotic surfaces, targeting microbial signals that modulate the switch to the biofilm mode of growth, or dislodging cells from established biofilms [4,11].

Recent work has highlighted that among future antibiofilm strategies, the possible use of antimicrobial peptides (AMPs), also referred to as host defense peptides, may represent a promising approach [12– 15]. The present review critically analyzes the possible use of AMPs to prevent biofilm formation or to treat established biofilms. After pointing out the peculiar properties of biofilms that may greatly impact on the development of new antibiofilm therapeutic strategies, the article provides an overview of the multiple mechanisms of the AMPs' antibiofilm action. Finally, the article focuses on the interactions of AMPs with biofilm components (e.g. those that constitute the extracellular matrix) of medically relevant microorganisms and the possible obstacles and/or opportunities that may arise from such interactions in the development of new AMP-based antibiofilm strategies.

2. Antibiofilm drug-development: properties of an "ideal" antibiofilm agent

Biofilms are microbial communities that display unique characteristics compared with their planktonic counterparts. These characteristics must be accurately considered when evaluating the potential of biofilm prevention or control strategies (Fig. 2). The properties that could allow an "ideal" antibiofilm agent to target optimally the biofilm lifestyle are listed below.

2.1. Display rapid killing ability

Biofilms are highly dynamic entities that develop according a welldefined step-by-step process which roughly involves an initial adhesion phase followed by a maturation phase and a dispersal phase [2] (Fig. 2). The adhesion phase involves a primary attachment of free-floating cells to a conditioned surface by weak and reversible long-range interactions (e.g. electrostatic and hydrophobic interactions, steric hindrance, van der Waals forces, hydrodynamic forces and others). Conditioning occurs when a foreign body is exposed to body fluids and its surface is modified by the adsorption of host molecules (e.g. albumin, lipids, extracellular matrix molecules, complement, fibronectin, inorganic salts). Following the primary phase, loosely bound microorganisms stably attach to the substratum by short-range and more specific molecular interactions between bacterial surface structures (e.g. pili, fimbriae, fibrillae, capsule etc.) and host molecules (e.g. fibronectin) that function as receptors [16]. The adhesion step is highly influenced by a number of factors that include the associated flow conditions, local environment, bacterial properties as well as the surface properties of the biomaterial/host tissue [17]. Maturation of biofilms is associated with the production of EPS that constitutes a large proportion of the biofilm biomass and plays a major role in the establishment of the biofilm phenotype. A final step or dispersal phase involves the detachment of clusters of cells or single cells and colonization of surrounding sites. Due to the described temporal biofilm heterogeneity, an ideal antimicrobial agent against biofilms should be able to act in a fast way, to face a rapidly changing entity, and to target cells before they stably enter in the biofilm community and switch to the biofilm phenotype.



Fig. 2. Properties of the biofilm lifestyle (red text) and "ideal" features of an optimal antibiofilm drug (black text). Many of these features are exhibited by naturally occurring host defense peptides or their optimized derivatives. The three main steps of the biofilm life-cycle (attachment to a surface, maturation and dispersal) are depicted.

2.2. Act in different microenvironments and target slow growing or even non-growing cells

Mature biofilms are also spatially highly heterogeneous as gradients of oxygen, nutrients, pH, and waste material are established due to the reduced diffusion of gasses and molecules through the extracellular matrix (Fig. 2). The establishment of microenvironments that differ for physicochemical characteristics may impair the activity of several antibiotics. For instance, aminoglycosides fail to act in anaerobiosis and at low-pH [18], conditions found in the deep biofilm layers.

The establishment of gradients implies that cells in the biofilm's periphery are directly in contact with oxygen and nutrients while those sited in the deepest biofilm layers may experience anoxia, lack of nutrients and acidic conditions. This generates a spatial and metabolic heterogeneity of the bacterial population that may include rapidly as well as slowly growing cells. Notably, environmental conditions within a biofilm may induce the occurrence of dormant, non-dividing cells at high rate [4,10], the so-called "persisters", that constitute a small fraction of essentially invulnerable cells believed to play a key role in biofilm recalcitrance to antibiotics [4].

Thus, an "ideal" antibiofilm agent should be able to act in disparate environmental niches and to target sub-populations of cells with different growth rate, including persisters. Molecules acting on multiple targets or able to synergize with antimicrobials displaying different mechanisms of action, could be suitable to accomplish this goal. For instance, combination of an antibiotic acting on metabolically active cells (i.e. ciprofloxacin) with one able to target non-dividing cells of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilms (i.e. colistin), was described to ensure higher biofilm killing rates in vitro as compared to the antibiotics used alone [19]. The same combination also demonstrated some clinical efficacy in the early eradication therapy of intermittent airway colonization by *P. aeruginosa* in CF patients [20].

2.3. Penetrate the extracellular matrix and/or interfere with its production

Typically, biofilm communities are encased in a self-produced matrix of EPS that have been defined "the house of biofilm cells" [21]. EPS represents a major biofilm component accounting for up to 90% of the total biofilm dry biomass [22]. It contributes to maintain biofilm architecture providing a highly hydrated environment and favoring cell-tocell and cell-to-surface adhesion. The major EPS components are polysaccharides, proteins, lipids and extracellular DNA (eDNA) distributed in a non-homogeneous pattern [22]. Occasionally also host molecules may enter in the composition of extracellular matrix as is the case of salivary glycoproteins in the oral biofilm.

The matrix plays a central role in the biofilm resistance mechanism to antibiotics [3,4]. It constitutes essentially a diffusion barrier that delays or prevents the interaction of antimicrobial agents with microbial cells. Depending on the charge of EPS and the drug, the latter may be sequestered or repulsed with consequent decrease of the bioactive concentration. Of note, sub-inhibitory concentrations of some antibiotics may even induce matrix synthesis, as in the case of beta-lactam induction of alginate synthesis in *P. aeruginosa* biofilms [23] or vancomycin induction of slime synthesis in coagulase-negative staphylococci [24].

Thus, ideally, an antibiofilm agent should be able to penetrate the matrix and/or to inhibit/interfere with its accumulation. The heterogeneity of matrix composition across different species/strains and the environmentally modulated expression of matrix synthesis [25], may render this requirement particularly difficult to be satisfied.

2.4. Interfere with bacterial cell communication machinery

Cells in biofilm communicate and coordinate their behavior through the secretion of signal molecules known as auto-inducers [26]. When the concentration of such molecules reaches a critical level (Quorum, Q) it is sensed by the population members (Sensing, S) that coordinate their behavior in a cell-density dependent manner [26]. Different types of acyl homoserine lactones function as signal molecules in gramnegative bacteria, while in gram-positive ones QS-mediated gene expression is mainly triggered by small peptides [5,26]. Interestingly, different biofilm-related properties are under the control of QS signals. Depending on the microbial species, signal molecules may promote biofilm formation [27] or, rather, favor biofilm dispersal [28]. Currently, the possibility to interfere with QS signals is an extensively investigated research area for biofilm control [29]. As QS often regulates also the expression of virulence traits, the employment of antagonists or quenchers of QS signals could allow accomplishing the double goal of inhibiting biofilm formation and down-regulating pathogen's features involved in the pathogenic process. Nevertheless, as QS quenchers not necessarily ensure that infectious bacteria are eradicated, their therapeutic use as a single treatment seems less feasible than their utilization in combination with sterilizing agents (e.g. antibiotics). In this regard, the study by Christensen et al. demonstrated a synergistic antibacterial efficacy of early combination treatment with tobramycin and QS inhibitors against P. aeruginosa in an intraperitoneal foreign-body infection mouse model [30].

2.5. Modulate host response to biofilm

Biofilms are not only recalcitrant to antibiotics, but also evade host immune-responses [31,32]. In vitro studies demonstrated that antibodies or phagocytic cells at most enter the interstitial voids (water channels) that intercalate the microcolonies in a mature biofilm, but barely penetrate the deep biofilm layers [1,33]. Phagocytic cells seem not only to be unable to physically engulf the biofilm structures but also to be impaired in their activities [34,35].

In vivo biofilms are much less investigated than biofilms obtained in vitro; they are usually smaller in physical dimensions, lack mushroom-like structures, are embedded in host material, and are continuously exposed to host defense reactions [36]. Confocal microscopy images of *P. aeruginosa* biofilms produced in the lung of CF patients have shown that microcolonies are mostly very compact, only rarely perforated by holes resembling water channels, and with phagocytic cells mainly surrounding the biofilms [37]. The study of the in vivo immune response to biofilms is still a poorly investigated research area with the potential to disclose interesting aspects of the biofilm–host interaction that does not necessarily resemble those known to act against planktonic bacteria [32].

The clinical outcome of biofilm-associated infections is often exacerbated by the intense host pro-inflammatory response, to the persistent microbial stimulus, that may greatly contribute to the tissue damage. Interestingly, by employing a mouse model of biofilm-mediated prosthetic implant infection, Prabhakara et al. reported that suppression of Th1/Th17 pro-inflammatory immune response prevents the development of a Staphylococcus aureus chronic biofilm infection [38]. In apparent contrast, Hanke et al. found that S. aureus biofilms skew macrophage differentiation toward an anti-inflammatory phenotype, the alternatively activated type 2 macrophages that support T regulatory cell responses [39]. In the same study, treatment of established biofilm infections with local administration of macrophages with a proinflammatory phenotype, the classically activated type 1 macrophages that support Th1 cell responses, significantly reduced catheter associated biofilm burden. The authors suggest that targeting macrophages' pro-inflammatory activity can overcome the local immune inhibitory environment created by the biofilm and represent a novel immunotherapeutic antibiofilm strategy [39].

The nature of the biomaterial is also important for the host response to the combined presence of bacteria and biomaterial [40]. For instance, murine or human macrophages exposed to various biomedical polymers including polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS), expanded polytetra fluoroethylene (ePTFE), and alginate react by secreting pro-inflammatory cytokines such as interleukin (IL)-1 β , IL-6, tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α , and IL-12 [41].

It might be possible that, similarly to other persistent infections [42, 43], a balance between pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory immune cell responses is needed for an optimal control of biofilm infections. Thus, ability to recruit immune cells and/or modulate the host immune response would be an added value of an ideal antibiofilm drug.

2.6. Synergize with other conventional and unconventional antimicrobial compounds

It is quite unlikely that a single drug may exhibit all the above reported features at once. In this regard, combinatorial therapeutic strategies may represent a valid approach to target the numerous features of the biofilm mode of life. Several innovative combinatorial approaches are being investigated in in vitro and in vivo models and will be hopefully translated to the clinical use in the years to come [11]. Examples include the use of antibiotics in combination with compounds able to i) digest or destabilize the biofilm matrix [44,45]; ii) inhibit QS signals [30]; iii) interfere with pathways leading to persistency [46,47]; iv) promote ROS production to increase bacterial membrane permeability [48]; v) rise the pH to enhance activity of aminoglycosides [49]; vi) render antibiotics more accessible into biofilms [50,51].

3. Rational of using antimicrobial peptides as therapeutic strategies against microbial biofilms

In the last decade, growing interest has been devoted to the possible use of AMPs as antibiofilm agents [12–15]. A PubMed survey on papers published since the year 2005 yielded 856 results using "antimicrobial peptides and biofilms" as keywords, while the number of the corresponding papers was only 107 in the previous decade. Such interest is probably justified by the fact that, on a rational basis, AMPs may have the potential to exert activity against biofilms as they display many, if not all, the properties of an "ideal" antibiofilm drug outlined in the previous section (Fig. 2).

For instance, they overall exert a fast killing ability. Our previous studies focused on the antibacterial properties of the human betadefensin-3 (hBD3) against multidrug-resistant nosocomial bacterial strains, demonstrated that the peptide is bactericidal against a wide variety of gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria in 1 to 20 min, depending on the species [52]. Similar short killing times were obtained by us also testing a number of frog-skin derived peptides against bacterial strains isolated from hospitalized patients [53]. This feature is a direct consequence of AMPs' main mechanism of action, namely, permeabilization of bacterial membranes [54]. Membrane integrity is essential for the survival of bacteria irrespective of the metabolic stage of the cell. Thus, AMPs may have the potential to kill not only metabolically active cells but also slow growing or even persister cells. In a recent study, cationic membrane-penetrating peptides containing various numbers of arginine (Arg) and tryptophan (Trp) repeats were demonstrated to be effective in killing planktonic persister cells of Escherichia coli HM22, a hyper-persister producer [55]. Some of the Trp/Arg containing AMPs were also able to disperse and kill preformed biofilms harboring high percentages of persister cells. Bacteria within biofilms resemble stationary phase bacteria and are generally less sensitive to antibiotics than log-phase bacteria. To assess whether this was the case also for AMPs, in another recent study the effects of LL-37-derived peptides were evaluated on biofilm-cells obtained by mechanical disruption of mature S. aureus biofilms [56]. Interestingly, two LL-37 analogues (P60.4Ac and P10) significantly reduced the number of biofilm-derived cells at a concentration as low as 1.6 µM after 4 h incubation, suggesting the potential of such peptides to kill also bacteria released from the biofilm during the dispersal phase.

Many AMPs are effective against multi-drug-resistant bacteria probably due to their prevalent mode of action on bacterial membranes that is different from that of the large majority of conventional drugs [52,53]. This characteristic is particularly relevant since, in the actual postantibiotics era, a growing number of conventional drugs have lost their effectiveness due to the rapid spread of resistant microorganisms.

Although most AMPs act, principally, by the electrostatic attraction to negatively charged bacterial surfaces followed by membrane disruption, their antibacterial activity may also involve interference with metabolic processes or with different types of intracellular targets that may result in inhibition of cell wall, nucleic acid or protein biosynthesis [54, 57]. The complex, often-multimodal, antimicrobial action of AMPs renders more difficult for microbes to develop durable resistance mechanisms, offering another notable advantage of AMPs over conventional antibiotics. In addition, this property may allow AMPs to target different biofilm sub-populations and, in mixed biofilms, even different microbial species. In some cases, AMP activity may be also modulated by environmental conditions. For example, we demonstrated that, similarly to other histidin-rich peptides, the antimicrobial properties of the human liver-derived peptides hepcidin 25 and hepcidin 20 (hep-20) against clinically relevant bacterial and fungal strains are highly enhanced and quickened at acidic pH [58-61]. Besides this, we found that pH influences the mode of hepcidin 25 and hep-20 action on E. coli cells and model membranes, with a predominant membrane permeabilizing effect at acidic pH and a plausible effect on intracellular target(s) at neutral pH [62]. Acidic microenvironments may very well exist in the deep layers of a mature biofilm, due to the production of metabolites by bacteria, while at the biofilm periphery or in the close proximity of the water channels pH might be neutral. Acidic conditions may also originate in pathological conditions associated with biofilm formation such as those establishing in the dense mucus of the airway surface of CF patients. Ability of AMPs to target biofilm-specific features has also been demonstrated. For instance, AMPs may act as QS inhibitors, down-regulators of extracellular matrix biosynthesis or interferers of regulatory pathways that lead to the persister phenotype (see the next section).

AMPs can also act as immunomodulators, recruiting polymorphonuclear cells, lymphocytes or dendritic cells at the site of infection, enhancing the activities of host immune cells and modulating the release of pro or anti-inflammatory cytokines [63]. Importantly, many AMPs interact with high affinity with the lipopolysaccharide (LPS) or endotoxin on the cell wall of gram-negative bacteria or in suspension and thus have the potential to neutralize the toxic effect of this molecule which is one the major mediators of septic shock [64]. In addition, AMPs can promote healing processes by stimulating cellular proliferation or angiogenesis, thus potentially contributing to tissue repair during the course of biofilm infections [15].

Additional AMP-properties that may reveal useful in the development of AMPs as antibiofilm agents include the possibility: i) to immobilize them on biomaterial surface to inhibit microbial adhesion [65,66]; ii) to encapsulate them into natural or synthetic polymeric carriers as delivery systems [67]. In the case of biomaterial-associated infections, the possibility of releasing the active molecule directly at the site of implant in a controlled manner may allow not only to prevent biofilm formation, but also offer the unique advantage to eradicate bacteria in peri-implant tissue [40,68]; iii) to chemically manipulate them (amino acid substitution, introduction of D or non-natural amino acids, expression as fusion proteins, combination of different functional domains, others) in order to improve their effectiveness against planktonic and/ or biofilm cells [69,70].

Although all the abovementioned characteristics are found among AMPs, they are not necessarily exhibited by a single AMP molecule. Therefore, strategies aimed at combining AMPs with compounds acting with different mechanisms of action and targeting distinct biofilm features might represent a valid therapeutic approach to improve the AMP antibiofilm potential. For instance, it is well established that AMPs may synergize with conventional and unconventional compounds, thus reducing the active antibiotic concentrations and possible side effects [47,71,72]. We recently focused on the study of the antibiofilm properties of the frog-skin derived peptide temporin B (1Tb) in combination with conventional antibiotics or unconventional antimicrobial compounds such as cysteine or EDTA. A striking ability of the peptide to kill both forming and mature *Staphylococcus epidermidis* biofilms was observed, especially when it was used in combination with cysteine or EDTA. Interestingly, temporin B in combination with EDTA was able to eradicate mature *S. epidermidis* biofilms formed in vitro on silicon catheters suggesting the possible use of temporin B-EDTA combinatorial strategies in the lock therapy of central access devices colonized by *S. epidermidis* biofilms (Maisetta et al. manuscript in preparation).

4. Difficulties in testing AMP-antibiofilm properties

Due to the rational beyond the use of AMPs as novel antibiofilm drugs, an increasing number of AMPs with different chemical-physical properties and origins have been tested over the last years against forming or mature biofilms of a variety of pathogenic or environmental microbial species [73]. In this regard, it should be noted that testing AMP antibiofilm properties has inherent difficulties that may render comparison among different AMPs cumbersome. A given AMP may or may not exert activity depending on the experimental conditions adopted that, in turn, may greatly influence the ability of clinical isolates to form biofilms. For instance, we recently tested in vitro the ability to form biofilm of different bacterial species/strains isolated from biopsies of patients suffering from chronic rhinosinusitis. We found that the type of medium used might have a dramatic impact on biofilm biomass evaluated as crystal violet (CV) staining after 24 h culture. Overall, rich media containing high glucose or sucrose concentrations, human plasma, and/ or salts promote biofilm formation, but not for all the species (Di Luca et al. unpublished observations). On the other hand, in the presence of complex mixture of molecules/ions the antibacterial activity of many AMPs is inhibited [74]. Strain-to-strain variability in the susceptibility to AMPs is also evidenced in many studies [75,76], adding complexity to the evaluation of the antibiofilm properties of a given AMP. A vast heterogeneity in the methods used to evaluate AMP-antibiofilm properties across different studies is another important issue emerging from the analysis of the literature. While some methods use as read out the biofilm biomass without taking into account the vitality of biofilm-embedded cells, others measure the biofilm metabolic activity, the number of biofilm-associated viable cells, or the amount of specific biofilm components [73]. It should be stressed here that the abovementioned methods are not always equivalent. For instance, staining of biofilms with CV is a commonly employed assay for evaluating biofilm biomass upon AMP treatment. CV stains bacterial cells and components of the extracellular matrix (e.g. polysaccharides and proteins), but does not distinguish between living and dead cells. Measurement of metabolic activity by XTT, MTT or alamar blue assays is widely used as a parameter of cell viability in biofilm studies, the latter being an obviously important parameter when evaluating the activity of antimicrobial agents against biofilms. Nevertheless, in the case of biofilms, reduction of metabolic activity does not necessarily imply that cells are dead as biofilm-associated bacteria may enter in a reversible dormant status and down-regulate active cell processes as a survival-response to stressful conditions. In this regard, assessment of vitality by counting colony forming units (CFU) on agar plates might be more appropriate, although dislodgement of biofilm-embedded cells might also be problematic in the case of particularly sticky biofilms. Microscopic techniques, including confocal laser scanning microscopy and scanning electron microscopy, are widely used in biofilm research as they offer the unique possibility to obtain valuable information on the biofilm structure, its three-dimensional organization and, in the case of mixed biofilms, on the relative abundance of the different microbial species. In addition, the information obtained from microscopic images may aid in the elucidation of the mechanisms of antimicrobial action of active agents and, if used in conjunction with labeling techniques that identify the various biofilm components (e.g. microbial cells, distinct EPS components), in the identification of the possible molecular targets of the active molecules.

Recently, attempts have been made to establish the minimum information that needs to be reported to guarantee the interpretability and independent verification of experimental results involving biofilms [77]. Valuable initiatives aimed at establishing international networks with the aim, among others, to identify optimal and standardized in vitro microbiological tests suitable for predicting AMP-activity in vivo against medical device infections (e.g. www.ipromedai.net) are ongoing. Nevertheless, a consensus on standardized operating protocols for assessing AMP anti-biofilm activity is still missing, generating possible interpretation mistakes.

Further difficulties may arise when testing antibiofilm activity of AMPs in vivo, as several variables may greatly influence the peptide's performances in a host. These include the presence of body fluid components (e.g. proteases, plasma proteins, nucleic acids), expression of additional virulence factors by the infectious microorganisms, host immune responses, short half-life of the peptides, type of the surface on which the biofilm is formed (mucosal/epithelial surface) and, in the case of biomaterial associated infections, the physicochemical properties of the biomaterials [41]. In this regard, de Breij et al. demonstrated that the substrate used for biofilm formation (plastic surface versus bronchial epithelial cells) can impact bacterial gene expression in *Acinetobacter baumannii* [78]. These observations underscore the importance of using biological matrices for studies of medical biofilm growth and for predicting the effectiveness of new therapeutic agents in in vivo settings [79].

In the attempt to facilitate the comparison among different AMPs, some of us have recently collaborated at the development of the first database entirely focused on AMPs tested on microbial biofilms [73]. The database is freely accessible online at the site www.baamps.it and for each peptide provides, in a pre-organized framework, relevant information that cannot be separated from the evaluation of its antibiofilm properties. The information provided includes: i) sequences, physiochemical properties and origin of the tested AMPs; ii) stage of biofilm considered; iii) active concentrations and corresponding biofilm reduction; iv) experimental conditions used to evaluate the activity; v) methods used to evaluate biofilm reduction; vi) microbial species/ strains toward which activity was evaluated; vii) experimental models (in vitro, in vivo). Furthermore, all the experimental data regarding a given AMP are directly linked to the doi of the corresponding original article, allowing users to reach the on-line article page, if further information are required. Scientists working in the field of AMPs and biofilms may upload their own results following a simple registration procedure, thus contributing to keep updated the database and to avoid interpretation mistakes.

Currently the database includes 209 peptide sequences from 7 different sources tested in vitro and/or in in vivo against 112 different microbial species/strains of clinical or environmental relevance.

5. Unraveling the mechanisms of the antibiofilm activity of AMPs

Although the study of the AMP antibiofilm mechanisms of action is still a relatively poorly investigated area of research, it appears that AMPs have the potential to act on multiple targets and stages of biofilm formation [12]. For instance, some peptides can interfere with the early events of biofilm formation by preventing adhesion of bacterial cells to the substrate or to other cells, or by killing cells before they stably become part of the biofilm architecture [80–82]. Others may act on established biofilms by killing mature biofilm cells, or by causing their detachment [55,81,83]. Interference with QS or other regulatory signals, dysregulation of genes involved in motility, modulation of the immune system, interference with matrix synthesis/accumulation are other examples of AMP-antibiofilm mechanisms of action [75,82–85].

The concentration at which a peptide exerts its antibiofilm activity is an important parameter that may be suggestive of its mechanism of action. AMP-ability to inhibit biofilm formation or reduce/eradicate mature biofilms at concentrations equal or higher than its minimal inhibiting concentration (MIC) against the corresponding planktonic cells, may suggest that the peptide acts by a classical "microbicidal" effect. On the other hand, a growing number of peptides show activity against biofilms at concentrations much lower than their inhibitory concentrations. In this case, their antibiofilm effect is likely to rely, exclusively or in part, to "nonclassical" mechanisms of actions targeting the biofilm mode of growth.

In this second group of peptides, falls the human cathelicidin LL-37 whose antibiofilm properties have been extensively investigated [56, 85–87]. Interestingly, Overhage et al. assessed the mechanisms of *P. aeruginosa* biofilm inhibition by LL-37 by microarray technology and demonstrated that the peptide affects biofilm formation by decreasing the attachment of bacterial cells, stimulating twitching motility, and influencing two major QS systems (Las and Rhl), leading to the down-regulation of genes essential for biofilm development [85]. Dysregulations of genes involved in biofilm formation and/or motility, only partially overlapping with those caused by LL-37, were also observed treating *P. aeruginosa* biofilms with the small cationic peptide 1037 [84], suggesting that different peptides may target common set of genes controlling biofilm properties.

HBD3 is another AMP possibly acting against biofilms by a "nonclassical" mechanism of action. Real-time polymerase chain reaction experiments demonstrated that the peptide interferes with the expression of *icaA* and *icaD* genes [82], which are part of the *ica* operon responsible of the synthesis of PIA (polysaccharide-intercellular-adhesin), the major extracellular polysaccharide produced by a large fraction of staphylococcal strains (see Section 6.3). In the same study hBD3 was also demonstrated to up-regulate the expression of *icaR* (a transcriptional repressor of the *ica* operon expression) resulting in a marked attenuation of biofilm production.

Interestingly, while evaluating the antibiofilm properties of hep-20, a peptide with structural similarity with hBD3, our group evidenced that in the presence of hep-20 *S. epidermidis* strains develop biofilms

with an altered architecture and reduced amount of extracellular matrix [75]. This effect was observed at peptide concentrations unable to kill bacterial cells in biofilm like conditions (i.e. stationary phase cells in 50% Tryptone Soy broth, 0.25% glucose) and was directed against S. epidermidis strains with an extracellular matrix made mainly of PIA, as well as strains producing protein-dependent biofilms (PIA-negative strains, see Section 6.4). The observation that the inhibitory effect paralleled a strong reduction of biofilm metabolic activity suggested that it might be due to a peptide-driven down-regulation of active cell processes such as protein or polysaccharide biosynthesis [75]. Alternatively, due to its cationic nature, hep-20 could intercalate between the negatively charged bacterial cells interfering with the interactions of EPS components either reciprocally or with the cell-wall, thus reducing the amount of EPS that accumulates. A striking ability of hepcidin to bind DNA has been recently reported [88]. As eDNA is involved in biofilm development (see Section 6.1), it is tempting to speculate that binding of hep-20 to DNA may play a role in the destabilization of biofilm structure and accumulation of matrix components.

Another interesting "non-classical" mechanism of antibiofilm action has been demonstrated for the synthetic cationic peptide IDR-1018 [83]. At concentrations that did not affect planktonic growth, the peptide completely prevented biofilm formation and led to the eradication of mature biofilms of clinically relevant bacterial species, including *P. aeruginosa, E. coli, A. baumannii, Klebsiella pneumoniae*, methicillin resistant *S. aureus, Salmonella typhimurium* and *Burkholderia cenocepacia*. The mechanism of action involved the inhibition of a widely conserved stress response, the so-called stringent response, mediating (p)ppGpp synthesis in response to environmental signals such as nutritional limitations [83]. A summary of the possible mechanisms of action of AMPs against biofilms is depicted in Fig. 3, while selected examples of AMPs exerting antibiofilm properties in vitro or in vivo are reported in Tables 1 and 2 [89–95], respectively.

With the growing medical relevance of biofilm-associated infections and the still complete absence of licensed antibiofilm therapies, overall AMPs represent promising lead compounds for future antibiofilm strategies. Although some recent studies aimed at identifying specific structural features needed for the explication of an optimal antibiofilm



Fig. 3. Main possible mechanisms of the antibiofilm activity of AMPs based on classical bactericidal effects or on the interference with essential attributes of the biofilm lifestyle. Coexistence of more than one mechanism is also possible. See text for details.

Table 1

Key examples of antimicrobial peptides acting against biofilms in in vitro models.

Peptide (source)	Amino acid sequence ^a	Charge ^b (pH 7)	Pho (CCS)	Microbial species/strain	Proposed antibiofilm mechanism of action	Ref.
D,L-K ₆ L ₉ (de novo)	LK <u>L</u> LK <u>KLLK</u> KLL <u>K</u> LL-NH ₂	5.975	1.86	P. aeruginosa PAO1	Decrease of bacterial attachment by surface adhesion	[81]
All L–K ₆ L ₉ (de novo)	LKLLKKLLKKLLKLL-NH ₂	5.975	1.86	P. aeruginosa PAO1	Decrease of bacterial attachment by binding to bacteria	[81]
Seg6D (de novo)	LLLLLKKKKKKKLLLL-NH ₂	5.975	1.86		Degradation of established biofilms by direct bacterial killing	[81]
Seg6L (de novo)	LLLLLKKKKKKLLLL-NH ₂	5.975	1.86	P. aeruginosa PAO1	Degradation of established biofilm by bacterial detachment	[81]
LL-37 (human)	LLGDFFRKSKEKIGKEFKRIV QRIKDFLRNLVPRTES	5.98	-1.84	P. aeruginosa PAO1, PA14, Burkholderia cenocepacia 4813; Listeria monocytogenes 568	Decreased attachment of bacterial cells, stimulation of twitching motility, influence on two major QS systems (Las and Rhl), leading to the down–regulation of genes essential for biofilm development	[85]
1037 (modified)	KRFRIRVRV–NH ₂	4.976	-2.55	P. aeruginosa PAO1,	Inhibition of swimming and swarming motilities and stimulation of twitching motility	[84]
IDR–1018 (modified)	VRLIVAVRIWRR-NH ₂	3.976	0.66	P. aeruginosa PAO1, PA14; E. coli 0157; A. baumannii SENTRY C8, K. pneumoniae ATCC13883, S. aureus MRSA SAP0017, S.entericasv Typhimurium 14028S, B. cenocepaciallla 4813	Binding and promotion of degradation of the signal for biofilm formation and maintenance (p)ppGpp	[15, 83]
hBD-3 (human)	GIINTLQKYYCRVRGGRCAV LSCLPKEEQIGKCSTRGRKCC RRKK	10.792	-3.11	S. epidermidis ATCC35984; S. aureus ATCC43300; methicillin-resistant S. epidermidis MRSE287	Decreased expression of <i>icaA</i> and <i>icaD</i> gene expression and up–regulation of <i>icaR</i> expression (transcriptional repressor of the <i>ica</i> operon)	[82]
hep-20 (human)	ICIFCCGCCHRSKCGMCCKT	2.971	-1.64	S. epidermidis ATCC3594, S. epidermidis clinical isolates	Interference with matrix PIA and protein production/accumulation	[75]

CCS: combined consensus scale.

^a Underlined amino acids are D-enantiomers.

^b Net charge at neutral pH and hydrophobicity (pho) were calculated using the BaAMPs database [73] (not considering the terminal modification).

activity [69,70,81,84,87,96], intensive structure-activity studies are still required for AMPs exploitation as antibiofilm drugs. Structural requirements optimal for antimicrobial activity against planktonic cells, not necessarily may coincide with those required for an optimal antibiofilm effect [84], suggesting that the selection of peptides with antibiofilm potential should not exclusively be based on the screening of their antimicrobial properties against floating microbes.

6. Interactions of antimicrobial peptides with biofilm components and their role in biofilm resistance to AMPs

Despite the numerous features underlined above render AMPs promising antibiofilm agents, AMPs' clinical use is still hampered by several drawbacks that lower their translational potential. These may include potential toxicity at the therapeutically efficacious doses, poor

Table 2

Examples of antimicrobial peptides tested against biofilms in different in vivo models.

Peptide (source)	Sequence	Charge ^a (pH 7)	Pho (CCS)	Microbial species/strain	Experimental model	Ref.
Citropin 1.1 (frog)	GLFDVIKKVASVIGGL–NH ₂	0.97	1.15	<i>S. aureus</i> strain Smith diffuse	Reduction of biofilm bacterial load and bacteremia in a rat model of central-venous- catheter infection	[89]
BP2 (modified)	GKWKLFKKAFKKFLKILAC	6.944	0.06	S. epidermidis (ATCC3594)	Treatment and prevention of biomaterial- associated infection in the mouse model	[90]
Novispirin G10 (modified)	KNLRRIIRKGIHIIKKYG	7.21	-1.64	mucoid <i>P. aeruginosa</i> clinical isolate NH57388A <i>P. aeruginosa</i> clinical isolate 2	Intratracheal administration in a rat model of lung infection Treatment of infected burns in a mouse model	[91] [92]
OP-145 (modified)	Ac-IGKEFKRIVERIKRFLRELVRPLR-NH ₂	5.979	-1.408	P. aeruginosa PAO1	Treatment of biofilm-related sinusitis in a rabbit model	[93]
DASamP1 (de novo)	FFGKVLKLIRKIF	3.97	2.2	S. aureus USA 300 LAC::Lux	Suppression of early biofilm formation in a mouse model of catheter-associated infection	[94]
Tet-20 (de novo)	KRWRIRVRVIRKC	6.94	-2.83	S. aureus	Biofilm resistance of Tet–20 conjugated titanium implants in a rat infection model	[95]

CCS: combined consensus scale.

^a Net charge at neutral pH and hydrophobicity (pho) were calculated using the BaAMPs database [73] (not considering the terminal modification).

stability in biological fluids, high production costs, potential development of resistance mechanisms, and/or unwanted interference with host-immune responses [5,63,97]. In addition to these general obstacles, other biofilm-specific features may generate further impediments to the exploiting of AMPs as anti-biofilm therapeutics. In this regard, interaction of AMPs with polymers of the biofilm extracellular matrix is considered to play a major role [98].

Therefore, this section provides an overview of the possible interactions of AMPs with biofilm components of medically relevant microorganisms and on the possible role of such interactions in biofilmresistance to AMPs, with special emphasis to EPS components (Fig. 4).

6.1. Interaction of AMPs with extracellular DNA, a common component of a variety of bacterial and fungal biofilms

Extracellular DNA (eDNA) is a major component of the biofilm matrix of many pathogenic bacterial and fungal species [22]. It mainly derives from cells undergoing lysis, but active mechanisms of secretion have been suggested as well [99,100]. It has been proposed that eDNA may act as an intercellular connector that stabilizes and maintains the biofilm architecture [22]. In addition, it may constitute a flexible pool of genes that bacteria in the biofilm exchange by mechanisms of horizontal gene transfer with possible acquisition of virulence traits and/ or resistance determinants [99]. In *P. aeruginosa* biofilms the release of eDNA is under the control of QS signals [101] and it may facilitate the twitching motility-mediated biofilm expansion by maintaining coherent cell alignments [102]. A role of eDNA as nutrient source [103, 104] or cation chelator [105] has also been proposed.

Of note, ability of sub-optimal antibiotic concentrations to promote eDNA release by biofilm cells has been reported. Kaplan et al. demonstrated that sub-inhibitory concentrations of beta-lactam antibiotics induce eDNA release and, in turn, cell aggregation and biofilm formation in some strains of *S. aureus* [106]. Similarly, biofilms of *S. epidermidis* pre-exposed to sub-inhibitory concentrations of vancomycin were found to contain higher concentrations of eDNA as compared to untreated biofilms and to impede penetration of the same antibiotic [107]. These observations may have clinical relevance as, due to the barrier effect played by the EPS, sub-optimal drug concentrations may very well be established within a biofilm.

Due to the crucial importance of eDNA in promoting cell aggregation and biofilm stabilization, several DNA-targeting antibiofilm strategies have been proposed [108]. For instance, recombinant human DNase I was shown to prevent the formation and cause the detachment of staphylococcal biofilms at clinically achievable concentrations and to increase the survival of *S. aureus*-infected *Caenorhabditis elegans* nematodes treated with tobramycin compared with control nematodes treated with tobramycin alone [109]. Similarly, DNase I was reported to prevent biofilm formation of *P. aeruginosa* and to dissolve mature biofilms (12, 36, and 60 h old) of the same species [100]. In a very recent study, ciprofloxacin-loaded poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) nanoparticles were functionalized with DNase I and their antibiofilm activity was assessed against *P. aeruginosa* biofilms [110]. Interestingly, DNase Iactivated nanoparticles not only prevented biofilm formation from



Fig. 4. Examples of interactions of AMPs with extracellular polymeric substances of the biofilm matrix such as extracellular DNA (A, B), polysaccharides (C, D), and proteins (E). A) High levels of host or bacteria-derived extracellular DNA can bind and neutralize AMPs (blue helix); B) AMPs can displace LPS-stabilizing cations (Mg) and disrupt membrane integrity. Extracellular DNA sequesters cations from the membrane and generates a cation-limited environment. This activates the PhoPQ/PmrAB systems that activate the cationic antimicrobial peptide (CAP) resistance operon, leading to the production of aminoarabinose (orange) and polycation spermidine (red) that mask the negative charges and protect the outer membrane from AMP damage [116]; C) negatively charged alginate might entrap AMPs before they can reach their bacterial target and constitutes a protective environment against the innate host defense; D) polysaccharide-intercellular-adhesin (PIA)/poly-N-acetylglucosamine (PNAG) due to their positively charged (NH3⁺) free amino groups may cause electrostatic repulsion of positively charged AMPs; E) *V. cholerae* outer membrane vesicles (OMVs) bind Bap1 at high levels through the major outer membrane protein OmpT. On the surface of OMVs Bap1 binds LL-37, reducing the concentration of free LL-37 to sub-lethal concentrations leading to the survival of the bacteria [148]. Degradation of AMPs by biofilm matrix exoproteases might represent another mechanism by which biofilm bacteria resist to AMPs.

planktonic bacteria, but they also successfully reduced established biofilm mass, size, and living cell density. Aerosolized recombinant human DNase I has been also evaluated in clinical trials for the treatment of CF patients [111].

It is well established that by virtue of their cationic nature, several AMPs have DNA-binding properties. Therefore, sequestration of AMPs by matrix-associated eDNA has been proposed as a biofilm-specific mechanism of resistance to AMPs (Fig. 4A). In this regard, Jones et al. analyzed the effect of eDNA on the antimicrobial activity of hBD3 against biofilms of nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae (NTHI), a gram-negative bacterium often involved in chronic infections of the airway and otitis media in children [112]. They found that pre-incubation in vitro of physiological concentrations of recombinant hBD3 with genomic DNA of NTHI abrogated the ability of the peptide to prevent biofilm formation of NTHI, while this ability was restored when biofilms were established in the presence of both DNase I and hBD3. DNase I, but not RNase A, also increased hBD3 killing of biofilm-associated NTHI, suggesting that removal of eDNA from the biofilm restores the ability of hBD3 to alter NTHI biofilm formation through rescue of its antimicrobial activity. The same study provided evidence that when NTHI-induced biofilms were established in the middle ear of an adult chinchilla (Chinchilla lanigera), eDNA co-localized with cBD1, the orthologous of hBD3, with the peptide-eDNA complexes mainly localized at the periphery of the biofilm. As hBD3 is expressed in the mammalian middle ear, these observations shed light not only on a possible mechanism of biofilm resistance to AMPs, but also suggest that neutralization of important effectors of innate immunity by biofilm components may contribute to the pathogenesis and persistency of biofilm infections. On the other hand, as eDNA seems crucial to maintain the structural integrity of biofilms formed by multiple bacterial species, the DNAbinding properties exhibited by many AMPs could be exploited as a therapeutic option to sequester this integral structural component from biofilm EPS.

It should be pointed out here that beside the possible interaction of AMPs with biofilm eDNA, also their interaction with host DNA may be involved in neutralization of their antimicrobial activity. For instance, high levels of host DNA are present in the viscous airway surface fluid of CF patients [113]. Despite high levels of antibacterial mediators (e.g. defensins, cathelicidins, lactoferrin, lysozyme) can be present in the airway fluid of these patients, their lung defenses are defective. Peptide binding and neutralization by eDNA has been suggested to contribute, among other factors, to this process [114]. However, the interaction of AMPs with extracellular host DNA may also enhance antimicrobial defense. Recently it has been discovered that upon encountering bacteria, neutrophils release mesh-like structures called neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs). These web-like traps contain a backbone consisting of DNA/histones associated with AMPs (e.g. defensins, lactoferrin, calprotectin and others) that is capable of capturing and eliminating microbes [115].

Indirect mechanisms of eDNA interference with biofilm susceptibility to AMPs have been also described (Fig. 4B) [116]. For instance, Mulcahy et al. reported that in P. aeruginosa, DNA ability to bind and sequester cations, including magnesium, in the surrounding environment induces the PhoPQ and PmrAB two-component systems [105]. Such systems regulate the cationic antimicrobial peptide (CAP) resistance operon PA3552-PA3559 whose induction leads to the expression of genes involved in LPS modifications (addition of aminoarabinose to lipid A), which, in turn, reduce the outer membrane permeability to CAPs. Induction of the CAP resistant operon PA3552-PA3559 by eDNA was dose-dependent, was abolished by addition of excess Mg⁺⁺ and, importantly, occurred not only in planktonic cultures, but also in biofilms of P. aeruginosa. Finally, biofilms supplemented with eDNA were 8-fold more resistant to CAP (polymyxin B, colistin) and 64-fold more resistant to aminoglycoside (gentamycin, tobramycin) than biofilms without exogenous DNA. As suggested by the authors, altogether these results reveal a novel mechanism of biofilm-associated resistance to antimicrobials in which the presence of DNA in the extracellular matrix of biofilms creates a localized cation-limited environment that is detected by *P. aeruginosa* leading to the induction of LPS modification genes and resistance to antimicrobials.

Similar eDNA-mediated induction of the PhoPQ/PmrAB systems and consequent resistance to AMPs was demonstrated also in *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium [117]. This suggests that such a resistance mechanism may be widely used by bacteria to evade host innate immune responses or antimicrobial therapy in DNA-rich environments like biofilms or the lung of CF patients.

Again, the DNA-binding properties of AMPs with particularly high affinity to DNA could be exploited to saturate the cation-binding ability of eDNA and to possibly prevent the eDNA-induced resistance of biofilms as well as planktonic bacteria to antimicrobials.

6.2. Interaction of AMPs with alginate and other polysaccharides, major components of biofilms of P. aeruginosa and other pulmonary pathogens

Exopolysaccharides are a major fraction of the biofilm matrix of a wide variety of microbial species [22]. Most of them are long molecules, linear or branched, with molecular masses ranging from 0.5×10^6 to 2×10^6 Da. They can be homopolysaccharides or, more often, heteropolysaccharides that consist of a mixture of neutral and charged sugar residues [22]. Most of the known exopolysaccharides are polyanionic (e.g. alginate of *P. aeruginosa*), but positively charged exopolysaccharides also exist (e.g. staphylococcal PIA).

Polysaccharides play essential roles in the biofilm lifestyle. Together with other EPS components, they allow the initial colonization of biotic and abiotic surfaces by planktonic cells, and the long-term attachment of mature biofilms to surfaces, maintain a highly hydrated microenvironment around biofilm organisms, form the skeleton and mediate the mechanical stability of biofilms, allow the accumulation of nutrients and the stabilization of extracellular enzymes. Not least, they confer resistance to non-specific and specific host defenses during infection and tolerance to various antimicrobial agents [22].

P. aeruginosa is an opportunistic pathogen responsible for a wide variety of both acute and chronic infections. Beyond its intrinsic resistance to many conventional drugs, its ability to form biofilms is considered one of the main pathogenicity trait of the bacterium [118]. P. aeruginosa pulmonary infections are particularly relevant in CF patients in which the bacterium can persist for decades by switching to the biofilm mode of growth. About 80% of CF patients suffer from chronic *P. aeruginosa* infections that represent the major cause of morbidity and mortality in these patients [118]. It has been shown that in the lung of CF patients P. aeruginosa undergoes complex adaptation process driven by genetic variation and acquires phenotypic diversity including the ability to synthetize high amounts of the extracellular polysaccharide alginate (mucoid strains) [118]. Alginate is a high-molecular-mass, linear polymer composed of D-mannuronic acid and L-guluronic acid [119]. Polysaccharides other than alginate are produced by non-mucoid *P. aeruginosa* strains, the first to colonize the lung of CF patients [119]. These polysaccharides include Pel, mainly composed of glucose, and Psl, a repeating pentasaccharide consisting of Dmannose, L-rhamnose, and D-glucose [119]. Mucoid and non-mucoid P. aeruginosa strains differ by the qualitative composition of their polysaccharides in the biofilm matrix, predominantly alginate or Psl/Pel, respectively [119].

Besides *P. aeruginosa*, other pathogens produce considerable amount of extracellular polysaccharides. Among them, there are members of the *Burkholderia cepacia* complex, also involved in pulmonary infection in CF patients, or *K. pneumoniae*, an important cause of nosocomial infections in infants or immunocompromised patients [120,121].

Interaction of AMPs with extracellular polysaccharides of biofilm EPS is still a relatively poorly investigated area of research. A major contribution in this area has been provided by Chan et al. who demonstrated that alginate induces a α -helical conformation in a series of synthetic cationic AMPs, provided that the average core sequence hydrophobicity exceeds a "hydrophobicity threshold" [122,123]. Through a combination of experiments measuring release of the fluorescent dye calcein from phospholipid vesicles, peptide interactions with vesicles in the presence and absence of alginate, and affinity of peptides for alginate as a function of net peptide core hydrophobicity, the authors show that alginate both binds and promotes the self-association of the cationic peptides. As α -helical conformation is typically induced in membrane-active peptides upon their interaction with membrane bilayers, the authors suggest that alginate might function as an "auxiliary membrane" for the bacteria encased in a biofilm. By forming complexes with peptides competitively with the bacterial membranes, alginate might entrap AMPs before they can reach their bacterial target and constitute for encased bacteria a protective environment against the innate host defense (Fig. 4C).

Further insights on peptide-polysaccharide interactions were provided by Herasimenka et al. [124] who studied the interaction of two cathelicidins, LL-37 and SMAP-29, with three bacterial polysaccharides, respectively produced by *P. aeruginosa* (alginate), *B. cepacia* (cepacian) and K. pneumoniae (capsular polysaccharide K40). Circular dichroism experiments showed that all these polysaccharides induced α -helical conformation in the two peptides although at different extent. Fluorescence measurements also indicated the formation of peptide-polysaccharide complexes. Interestingly, the authors proposed a model in which, at low polysaccharide/AMP ratio, one AMP molecule is induced to assume a helical conformation via interaction of its polar cationic surface with the anionic polysaccharide. This would in fact result in a hydrophobic surface exposed to the aqueous medium. The interaction of polar solvent molecules with the non-polar surface of the α -helix leads to an energetically unfavorable configuration that would promote complexation with a second peptide molecule, which is induced in turn to assume a helical conformation [124,125] (Fig. 5).

Of note, Benincasa et al. investigated the in vitro effect of different polysaccharides from lung pathogens on the antimicrobial activity of a panel of structurally diverse AMPs from mammals [126]. These included two peptides, LL-37 and hBD3, released in the human alveoli, as well as peptides from other mammals, i.e. SMAP-29, PG-1 and Bac7(1-35). All the polysaccharides investigated (alginate, cepacian and K40) were able to inhibit at variable extent the antibacterial activity of the peptides against an *E. coli* reference strain. The less inhibiting polysaccharide was cepacian that even at high concentrations (500 μg/ml) caused an increment of the MIC value of not more than 2–4-fold as compared to that obtained in its absence. Alginate exerted a potent inhibitory effect on

SMAP-29, LL-37, Bac7(1-35) and hBD3 causing a MIC increase of 8– 32-fold, in the concentration range 100–500 μ g/ml. The inhibitory effect of K40 was also potent against PG-1, with a 8–32-fold MIC increment, while its effect was modest, although still significant, on the other peptides [126]. Inhibition of peptides' killing ability by polysaccharides was overall fast and paralleled the polysaccharides' ability to inhibit *E. coli* inner membrane permeabilization. The differences among the various polysaccharides in the extent of the inhibitory effect on the AMPs tested could not be explained simply based on ionic interactions between the negatively charged polysaccharides and the cationic AMPs. This suggests that, albeit charge-mediated interactions are important, other structural features of both interactors may play a role in the formation of the complexes [126,127].

Altogether, these results point out that inhibition of AMP antibacterial activity by extracellular polysaccharides may protect the pathogens from host defenses during the course of an infection. The same mechanism could also represent an obstacle to the development of AMPs as antibiofilm agents. Intensive structure-function studies will constitute the basis for the design of optimized peptides with low tendency to interact with extracellular polysaccharides and/or high ability to penetrate them. In this regard, it is worth noting that peptide modifications aimed at optimizing antimicrobial activity against planktonic cells not necessarily match those required for optimizing the antibiofilm properties. For instance, while it has been reported that increasing the average core hydrophobicity of a cationic peptide can improve its antimicrobial activity [128], this same approach may promote peptide-peptide interaction in the weakly hydrophobic alginate, with consequent peptide aggregation and inactivation [126]. Thus, a balance between antimicrobial activity and alginate permeability may represent a better strategy in future design of peptides active against P. aeruginosa biofilms. Of note, Yin et al. recently demonstrated that although p-isomers of cationic AMPs are slightly more active than their corresponding L-isomers (because bacteria lack proteases to hydrolyze the unnatural D-isomers), D-isomers are relatively more affine to alginate than their L-isomer counterparts [129]. These observations are relevant for the design of peptides with antibiofilm activity and further support the view that optimization of the antibiofilm potential of AMPs may require specific measures.

6.3. Interaction of AMPs with PIA of staphylococcal biofilms

S. aureus represents a major cause of health-care related and community-associated infections. The worldwide emergence of multidrug-resistant strains such as methicillin-resistant *S. aureus*



Fig. 5. Model of the interaction of one EPS chain with two AMP-molecules based on circular dichroism and fluorescence spectroscopy data, as proposed by Foschiatti et al. [125]. Reproduced with permission from John Wiley & Sons Inc., http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1365-2958.2009.06707.x/full#f6.

(MRSA) has highly contributed to the spread of this bacterium [130]. In addition, *S. aureus* often forms matrix-encased biofilms on tissues and medical devices, which confers an additional level of drug resistance and further complicates the treatment [130]. *S. epidermidis*, another member of the *Staphylococcus* genus, has long been considered an innocuous colonizer of the human skin, but it is now clear that it is also frequently involved in nosocomial infections mostly occurring in patients with implanted medical devices such as intravascular catheters, prosthetic heart valves or orthopedic implants [131]. Ability of *S. epidermidis* to colonize and form biofilms on a variety of biotic and abiotic surfaces is considered the major virulence factor of the bacterium [132].

After attachment of staphylococcal cells by bacterial surfaceattached proteins to tissue or indwelling medical devices, which have been coated with host plasma proteins, staphylococcal biofilms develop and mature by the establishment of multiple interactions among biofilm cells [133]. This phase of intercellular aggregation in staphylococci is mainly mediated by PIA, a polymer of β -1,6-linked N-acetylglucosamine with partially N-deacetylated amine groups also called PNAG (poly-N-acetylglucosamine). Deacetylation of around 10–20% of the N-acetylglucosamine residues produces free amino groups that become positively charged at neutral to acid pH, resulting in a positive net charge of the otherwise neutral PIA molecule. The quite unusual net positive charge of PIA promotes intercellular interactions by binding to the negatively charged surface of bacterial cells.

The biosynthesis of PIA is regulated by genetic elements located in the *ica* (intercellular adhesin) operon which comprises four genes *icaA*, *icaD*, *icaB* and *icaC*. A gene, *icaR*, located upstream of *icaADBC*, encodes a transcriptional repressor of the *icaADBC*-operon [133]. Of note, *ica* gene expression and PIA production may also be subjected to environmental-driven regulation. For instance, it has been reported that anaerobic conditions induce PIA expression in both *S. aureus* and *S. epidermidis* [134]. Mechanisms of phase variation regulating the on/ off switching of the genes involved in PIA production have also been proposed [135,136]. Isogenic mutants of wild-type biofilm-forming strains in which the *ica* locus has been mutated or deleted fail to form biofilms in vitro, demonstrating that the *ica* genes, and therefore PIA production, are required for biofilm formation [137].

Experimental evidences support the view that staphylococcal PIA plays a crucial role in bacterial protection against major components of the human innate immune system, including host defense peptides [138]. An ica-negative S. epidermidis mutant strain, lacking PIA production, was demonstrated to be significantly more susceptible than wildtype strain to hBD3 and LL-37 suggesting that the positive net charge of PIA may cause electrostatic repulsion of positively charged peptides (Fig. 4D). The importance of PIA positive charge in resistance to cationic peptides is supported by the observation that inactivation of the *icaB* gene, whose product is responsible for PIA deacetylation, reduces the positive charge of the polymer and increases the susceptibility of the icaB mutant strain to cationic peptides, at levels comparable to those obtained for the *ica*-negative mutant, devoid of PIA [139]. Remarkably, compared to wild-type S. epidermidis, the icaB mutant strain, with nondeacetylated PIA, was highly impaired in its ability to form biofilms and to establish device-related infection in a murine model [139]. However, electrostatic repulsion seems to explain only in part the mechanism by which PIA protects biofilms from AMPs, as it was reported to protect biofilm cells also from the anionic dermicidin, a peptide secreted by human epithelia [138].

Despite the evidence that PIA, and possibly other staphylococcal polysaccharides, may play an inhibitory role on the antimicrobial activity of AMPs, ability of AMPs to inhibit PIA biosynthesis/accumulation has also been demonstrated. As reported in Section 5, hBD3 was shown to down-regulate the expression of *ica*A and *ica*D genes and up-regulate that of *ica*R [82], while hep-20 was demonstrated to cause the formation of *S. epidermidis* biofilms with an altered architecture and a reduced amount of PIA at sub-inhibitory concentrations [75]. Interestingly, *S. epidermidis* biofilms obtained in the presence of hep-20, were found

to be more susceptible to vancomycin than control biofilms; the antibiotic, used at sub-lethal concentrations, caused a statistically significant reduction of biofilm-associated viable cells, as compared to biofilms not pre-treated with hep-20. This observation suggests that interference with extracellular matrix production/accumulation by hep-20, may improve diffusion of conventional antibiotics (e.g., vancomycin) through the biofilm layers.

Although the biosynthetic machinery for PIA production has been mainly investigated in staphylococci, homologous systems are present in other pathogenic, biofilm-forming microorganisms, such as *E. coli*, *Yersinia pestis*, *Aggregatibacter actinomycetemcomitans*, and *Bordetella pertussis*, [98,140]. This suggests that the use of AMPs able to interfere with PIA biosynthesis/accumulation, alone or in combination with conventional antibiotics, could be a strategy to target biofilms of different medically important microorganisms.

6.4. Interaction of AMPs with biofilm or host proteins

The biofilm matrix contains also a considerable amount of extracellular proteins [22]. Among these there are enzymes involved in the degradation of EPS (e.g. DNases, proteases, lipases, polysaccharide- or oligosaccharide-degrading enzymes), with a role in nutrient acquisition or in the detachment and dispersal of biofilm cells, as well as nonenzymatic matrix proteins that exert structural functions, playing adhesive roles in the cell-to-surface or cell-to-cell interactions. Proteins of the extracellular bacterial appendages such as flagella, type IV pili or fimbriae may also be part of the biofilm matrix and act as additional structural elements by interacting with other EPS components. For example, type IV pili of *P. aeruginosa* bind DNA and possibly work as inter-connecting structures [141].

In staphylococci, although PIA is essential for biofilm formation of ica positive strains, significant matrix composition variation has been reported across clinical isolates and it is now clear that also ica-negative strains may exhibit marked biofilm-forming abilities [142,143]. Biofilm accumulation in these isolates is protein-dependent as their biofilms are sensitive to protease treatment, but resistant to polysaccharidedegrading enzymes [142,143]. A wide variety of proteins has been identified in protein-based biofilm matrices in staphylococci [144]. Examples are the *S. aureus* surface protein C and G (SasC and SasG), the clumping factor B (ClfB), the biofilm-associated protein (Bap), or the fibronectin/fibrinogen-binding proteins (FnBPA and FnBPB). In S. epidermidis, a protein named accumulation-associated protein (Aap) contributes to both the primary attachment phase and the establishment of intercellular connections by forming fibrils on the cell surface. Staphylococcal peptides able to disrupt interaction of biofilm matrix molecules with the bacterial surface have also been described. Among them, there is a family of short peptides called phenol-soluble modulins (PSMs), characterized by an amphipathic α -helical structure and surfactant-like properties, the production of which is strictly regulated by the *agr* (accessory gene regulator) locus [145]. Among others, PSMs includes the PSMB1 and PSMB2 that at low concentrations facilitate the formation of channels in the biofilm structure, thus promoting biofilm formation, while at high concentrations cause the detachment of biofilm cells independently of the nature (exopolysaccharidic or proteinaceous) of the biofilm [146]. Interestingly, PSM β 1 and PSM β 2 were found to promote dissemination of biofilm cells from colonized catheters in a mouse model of device-related infection, while the use of antibodies against PSM β inhibited bacterial spread from the device [146]. These observations may have important implications for the development of antistaphylococcal therapeutic strategies. For instance, structural non-toxic analogs of the surfactant-like S. epidermidis β subclass of PSMs, could be employed to promote dispersal of biofilm cells and favor their targeting by other bactericidal agents used in combination. On the other hand, specific PSM-inhibitors could aid in

interfering with biofilm detachment phase and prevent dissemination of biofilm-associated infections.

Interestingly, by using proteomic approaches, recently Gil et al. characterized the exoproteome of exopolysaccharide-based and protein-based biofilm matrices produced by two clinical isolates of *S. aureus* [147]. They found that, independently of the nature of the biofilm matrix, a common set of secreted proteins is contained in both types of exoproteomes. Notably, immunization with a biofilm matrix exoproteome extract effectively reduced biofilm formation and the number of cells in the surrounding tissues in an in vivo model of mesh-associated biofilm infection, suggesting the potential of using extracellular proteins for antibiofilm vaccine development [147].

The possible interactions between biofilm exoproteins and AMPs and the eventual role of these interactions in biofilm protection from host defense peptides is still poorly investigated. One could expect that, similarly to what has been shown following interaction of AMPs with serum proteins [74], specific and/or unspecific AMPs-exoprotein interactions may occur with possible inhibitory effects on AMPactivity (Fig. 4E). In this regard, a role of the Vibrio cholerae biofilmassociated extracellular matrix protein Bap1 in cross-resistance to AMPs has been recently demonstrated by Duperthuy et al. [148]. Based on an array of experimental data the authors propose a model according to which growing a V. cholerae strain with sub-lethal concentrations of the cationic polypeptide polymyxin B induces the release of outer membrane vesicles (OMVs) able to bind Bap1 at high levels through the OMV-associated major outer membrane protein OmpT [148]. Bap1 then serves as an adapter protein between LL-37 and the OmpT on the surface of the OMVs. Following LL-37 binding by Bap1, the concentration of free LL-37 is reduced to sub-lethal concentrations, leading to the apparent resistance and survival of V. cholerae.

Degradation of AMPs by biofilm matrix exoproteases might also be possible. For instance, our group has previously shown that proteases secreted by *Porphyromonas gingivalis*, an oral pathogen found in the sub-gingival biofilm of patients suffering from periodontitis, may degrade hBD3 and inhibit the antibacterial activity of the peptide which is found at lower levels in the crevicular fluid of patients than in healthy controls [149,150].

It should be mentioned here that often also host proteins might enter in the constitution of the biofilm matrix. For instance, salivary proteins and glycoproteins are included in the extracellular matrix of oral biofilms and are used as endogenous nutrients by plaque bacteria [151]. Similarly, the airway fluid of CF patients contain significant amount of filamentous (F)-actin that is released together with DNA from neutrophils and other cells that undergo lysis as the result of inflammation [114]. Such host components may also interact with AMPs and cause loss of their antibacterial function [114,152].

An in-depth characterization of the biofilm matrix proteome and of the structure/function relationships of matrix proteins/peptides will provide further insights into biofilm formation and facilitate the development of AMP-based anti-biofilm therapeutics aimed at inhibiting cell-to-cell interactions involved in biofilm accumulation.

7. Conclusions and future directions

Nowadays biofilm infections represent a serious threat for human health. Guidelines to drive the clinical and laboratory diagnosis of biofilm-associated infections have recently been elaborated [6,153], and represent a valuable milestone in the fight against biofilm infections. Nevertheless, to date the diagnosis and treatment of biofilm infections in clinical settings is far from being satisfactory.

In particular, identification of new therapeutic strategies to combat biofilm-associated infections represents one of the main challenges of the modern medicine. Integrated and multidisciplinary approaches will be necessary in the years to come to translate the huge amount of data obtained from extensive biofilm research into the clinic and to solve the numerous obstacles that still hamper the successful management of biofilm-associated infections [7].

In this regard, AMPs may represent a promising therapeutic approach although their interaction with EPS components may neutralize their antimicrobial action representing a possible obstacle for the development of these molecules as antibiofilm drugs. Nevertheless, the observation that many peptides may exert their antibiofilm activity with mechanisms that go beyond a direct microbicidal effect suggests that their use, alone or in combination with other conventional or unconventional drugs, may represent an effective strategy to target biofilm cells. AMP–EPS interactions could even be exploited for the design of AMP-based antibiofilm strategies aimed at sequestering essential EPS components, thus interfering with the establishment and maintenance of biofilm architecture. Alternatively, specifically designed antibiofilm peptides could be employed to interfere with signaling pathways involved in the synthesis of EPS components.

Extensive structure-function studies are desirable to identify the minimal structural features required for an optimal antibiofilm effect, since those known to enhance antimicrobial activity against planktonic cells not necessarily can be applied to biofilms. In other's [69] and our (Batoni et al., submitted) experience, subtle changes in the amino acidic sequence of a peptide may greatly affect its antibiofilm activity. In this context, computational approaches [154,155] implemented with large biofilm-oriented AMP-datasets [13,73], may help to predict novel peptide sequences specifically active against biofilms, while physicochemical inspired molecular modeling methods may provide insights on the AMPs antibiofilm mechanisms of action and/or interaction with EPS components.

The study of possible combination strategies is another research field that is worth investigating as the heterogeneity of microbial biofilms might require targeting cells in different metabolic state or environmental niches. Promising combinatorial strategies include the use of AMPs with: i) other AMPs; ii) conventional drugs used for anti-infective therapy; iii) compounds that can dissolve the biofilm matrix (e.g. DNase, matrix-disrupting enzymes); iv) inhibitors of QS or other signal pathways; v) anti-inflammatory or mucolytic agents (e.g. ibuprofen, salicylic acid, N-acetyl-cisteine) [156].

Finally, the advent of nanotechnology in the area of infectious diseases may offer further opportunities to optimize antibiofilm AMP-activity. In particular, encapsulation of peptides or proteins in nanocarriers is emerging as a promising technology to overcome the poor stability of the active molecules in physiological medium, avoid their unwanted interactions with biofilm matrix components and deliver them directly to their microbial targets [157]. In this regard, our group has recently developed a delivery system based on the use of chitosan nanoparticles loaded with the antimicrobial peptide temporin B [67]. We found that beyond the intrinsic antimicrobial activity of either chitosan nanoparticles or temporin B alone, the loaded nanocarrier exhibited a highly enhanced and long-lasting microbicidal activity against a number of clinical isolates of S. epidermidis, while reducing the toxic potential of the encapsulated peptide against mammalian cells. Further characterization of the developed delivery system against microbial biofilms is underway.

Transparency document

The Transparency document associated with this article can be found, in online version.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by funds from the University of Pisa. We would like to thank Mariagrazia Di Luca for critical reading of the manuscript. This article is dedicated to the memory of our "Maestro" Professor Mario Campa who passed away in July 2014. We are very grateful to him for his teaching and constant support in science and everyday life.

References

- W. Costerton, R. Veeh, M. Shirtliff, M. Pasmore, C. Post, G. Ehrlich, The application of biofilm science to the study and control of chronic bacterial infections, J. Clin. Invest. 112 (2003) 1466–1477, http://dx.doi.org/10.1172/JCI200320365.
- [2] R.M. Donlan, J.W. Costerton, Biofilms: survival mechanisms of clinically relevant microorganisms, Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 15 (2002) 167–193, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1128/CMR.15.2.167-193.2002.
- [3] N. Høiby, T. Bjarnsholt, M. Givskov, S. Molin, O. Ciofu, Antibiotic resistance of bacterial biofilms, Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents 35 (2010) 322–332, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1016/j.ijantimicag.2009.12.011.
- [4] D. Lebeaux, J.M. Ghigo, C. Beloin, Biofilm-related infections: bridging the gap between clinical management and fundamental aspects of recalcitrance toward antibiotics, Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 78 (2014) 510–543, http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/ MMBR.00013-14.
- [5] N. Rabin, Y. Zheng, C. Opoku-Temeng, Y. Du, E. Bonsu, H.O. Sintim, Biofilm formation mechanisms and targets for developing antibiofilm agents, Future Med. Chem. 7 (2015) 493–512, http://dx.doi.org/10.4155/fmc.15.6.
- [6] N. Høiby, T. Bjarnsholt, C. Moser, G.L. Bassi, T. Coenye, G. Donelli, L. Hall-Stoodley, V. Holá, C. Imbert, K. Kirketerp-Møller, D. Lebeaux, A. Oliver, A.J. Ullmann, C. Williams, ESCMID study group for biofilms (ESCB) and consulting external expert Werner Zimmerli, ESCMID guideline for the diagnosis and treatment of biofilm infections 2014, Clin. Microbiol. Infect. 21 (Suppl. 1) (2015) S1–S25, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1016/j.cmi.2014.10.024.
- [7] U. Römling, S. Kjelleberg, S. Normark, L. Nyman, B.E. Uhlin, B. Åkerlund, Microbial biofilm formation: a need to act, J. Intern. Med. 276 (2014) 98–110, http://dx.doi. org/10.1111/joim.12242.
- [8] J.W. Costerton, P.S. Stewart, E.P. Greenberg, Bacterial biofilms: a common cause of persistent infections, Science 284 (1999) 1318–1322, http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/ science.284.5418.1318.
- [9] I. Francolini, G. Donelli, Prevention and control of biofilm-based medical-devicerelated infections, FEMS Immunol. Med. Microbiol. 59 (2010) 227–238, http://dx. doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-695X.2010.00665.x.
- [10] K. Lewis, Persister cells, dormancy and infectious disease, Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 5 (2007) 48–56, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro1557.
- [11] C. Beloin, S. Renard, J.M. Ghigo, D. Lebeaux, Novel approaches to combat bacterial biofilms, Curr. Opin. Pharmacol. 18 (2014) 61–68, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. coph.2014.09.005.
- [12] G. Batoni, G. Maisetta, F.L. Brancatisano, S. Esin, M. Campa, Use of antimicrobial peptides against microbial biofilms: advantages and limits, Curr. Med. Chem. 18 (2011) 256–279, http://dx.doi.org/10.2174/092986711794088399.
- [13] M. Di Luca, G. Maccari, R. Nifosi, Treatment of microbial biofilms in the postantibiotic era: prophylactic and therapeutic use of antimicrobial peptides and their design by bioinformatics tools, Pathog. Dis. 70 (2014) 257–270, http://dx. doi.org/10.1111/2049-632X.12151.
- [14] P. Jorge, A. Lourenço, M.O. Pereira, New trends in peptide-based anti-biofilm strategies: a review of recent achievements and bioinformatic approaches, Biofouling 28 (2012) 1033–1061, http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/08927014.2012.728210.
- [15] S.C. Mansour, C. de la Fuente-Núñez, R.E. Hancock, Peptide IDR-1018: modulating the immune system and targeting bacterial biofilms to treat antibiotic-resistant bacterial infections, J. Pept. Sci. 21 (2015) 323–329, http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ psc.2708.
- [16] W.M. Dunne Jr., Bacterial adhesion: seen any good biofilms lately? Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 15 (2002) 155–166, http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/CMR.15.2.155-166.2002.
- [17] D. Pavithra, M. Doble, Biofilm formation, bacterial adhesion and host response on polymeric implants – issues and prevention, Biomed. Mater. 3 (3) (2008) 034003, http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1748-6041/3/3/034003.
- [18] D. Schlessinger, Failure of aminoglycoside antibiotics to kill anaerobic, low-pH, and resistant cultures, Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 1 (1988) 54–59, http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/ CMR.1.1.54.
- [19] S.J. Pamp, M. Gjermansen, H.K. Johansen, T. Tolker-Nielsen, Tolerance to the antimicrobial peptide colistin in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilms is linked to metabolically active cells, and depends on the pmr and mexAB-oprM genes, Mol. Microbiol. 68 (2008) 223–240, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.2008.06152.x.
- [20] C.R. Hansen, T. Pressler, N. Høiby, Early aggressive eradication therapy for intermittent *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* airway colonization in cystic fibrosis patients: 15 years experience, J. Cyst. Fibros. 7 (2008) 523–530, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.jcf.2008.06.009.
- H.C. Flemming, T.R. Neu, D.J. Wozniak, The EPS matrix: the "house of biofilm cells", J. Bacteriol. 189 (2007) 7945–7947, http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/JB.00858-07.
- [22] H.C. Flemming, J. Wingender, The biofilm matrix, Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 8 (2010) 623–633, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2415.
- [23] L.F. Wood, A.J. Leech, D.E. Ohman, Cell wall-inhibitory antibiotics activate the alginate biosynthesis operon in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: roles of sigma (AlgT) and the AlgW and Prc proteases, Mol. Microbiol. 62 (2006) 412–426, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1111/j.1365-2958.2006.05390.x.
- [24] W.M. Dunne, Effects of subinhibitory concentrations of vancomycin or cefamandole on biofilm production by coagulase-negative staphylococci, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 34 (1990) 390–393, http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/ AAC.34.3.390.

- [25] J.R. Wiens, A.I. Vasil, M.J. Schurr, M.L. Vasil, Iron-regulated expression of alginate production, mucoid phenotype, and biofilm formation by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, mBio 5 (1) (2014), e01010-13http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/mBio.01010-13.
- [26] M.B. Miller, B.L. Bassler, Quorum sensing in bacteria, Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 55 (2001) 165–199, http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev.micro.55.1.165.
- [27] Y. Sakuragi, R. Kolter, Quorum-sensing regulation of the biofilm matrix genes (pel) of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, J. Bacteriol. 189 (2007) 5383–5386, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1128/JB.00137-07.
- [28] B.R. Boles, A.R. Horswill, Agr-mediated dispersal of *Staphylococcus aureus* biofilms, PLoS Pathog. 4 (4) (2008), e1000052http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.100 0052.
- [29] G. Brackman, T. Coenye, Quorum sensing inhibitors as anti-biofilm agents, Curr. Pharm. Des. 21 (2015) 5–11, http://dx.doi.org/10.2174/138161282066614090511 4627.
- [30] L.D. Christensen, M. van Gennip, T.H. Jakobsen, M. Alhede, H.P. Hougen, N. Høiby, T. Bjarnsholt, M. Givskov, Synergistic antibacterial efficacy of early combination treatment with tobramycin and quorum-sensing inhibitors against *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in an intraperitoneal foreign-body infection mouse model, J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 67 (2012) 1198–1206, http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/jac/dks002.
- [31] L. Hall-Stoodley, P. Stoodley, Evolving concepts in biofilm infections, Cell. Microbiol. 11 (2009) 1034–1043, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-5822.2009.01323.x.
- [32] M.L. Hanke, T. Kielian, Deciphering mechanisms of staphylococcal biofilm evasion of host immunity, Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 2 (2012) 62, http://dx.doi.org/10. 3389/fcimb.2012.00062.
- [33] J.G. Leid, M.E. Shirtliff, J.W. Costerton, P. Stoodley, Human leukocytes adhere to, penetrate, and respond to *Staphylococcus aureus* biofilms, Infect. Immun. 70 (2002) 6339–6345, http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/IAI.70.11.6339-6345.2002.
- [34] A.J. Jesaitis, M.J. Franklin, D. Berglund, M. Sasaki, C.I. Lord, J.B. Bleazard, J.E. Duffy, H. Beyenal, Z. Lewandowski, Compromised host defense on *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilms: characterization of neutrophil and biofilm interactions, J. Immunol. 171 (2003) 4329–4339, http://dx.doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.171.8.4329.
- [35] T.D. Scherr, M.L. Hanke, O. Huang, D.B. James, A.R. Horswill, K.W. Bayles, P.D. Fey, VJ. Torres, T. Kielian, *Staphylococcus aureus* biofilms induce macrophage dysfunction through leukocidin AB and alpha-toxin, mBio 6 (4) (2015)http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1128/mBio.01021-15 (pii:e01021-15).
- [36] T. Bjarnsholt, M. Alhede, N. Alhede, S.R. Eickhardt-Sørensen, C. Moser, M. Kühl, P.Ø. Jensen, N. Høiby, The in vivo biofilm, Trends Microbiol. 21 (2013) 466–474, http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2013.06.002.
- [37] T. Bjarnsholt, P.Ø. Jensen, M.J. Fiandaca, J. Pedersen, C.R. Hansen, C.B. Andersen, T. Pressler, M. Givskov, N. Høiby, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilms in the respiratory tract of cystic fibrosis patients, Pediatr. Pulmonol. 44 (2009) 547–558, http://dx. doi.org/10.1002/ppul.21011.
- [38] R. Prabhakara, J.M. Harro, J.G. Leid, A.D. Keegan, M.L. Prior, M.E. Shirtliff, Suppression of the inflammatory immune response prevents the development of chronic biofilm infection due to methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*, Infect. Immun. 79 (2011) 5010–5018, http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/IAI.05571-11.
- [39] M.L. Hanke, C.E. Heim, A. Angle, S.D. Sanderson, T. Kielian, Targeting macrophage activation for the prevention and treatment of *Staphylococcus aureus* biofilm infections, J. Immunol. 190 (2013) 2159–2168, http://dx.doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol. 1202348.
- [40] S.A.J. Zaat, C.A.N. Broekhuizen, M. Riool, Host tissue as a niche for biomaterialassociated infection, Future Microbiol 5 (2010) 1149–1151, http://dx.doi.org/10. 2217/FMB.10.89.
- [41] J.M. Anderson, D.P. Jasmine, Biomaterial-dependent characteristics of the foreign body response and S. *epidermidis* biofilm interactions, in: T.F. Moriarty, S.A.J. Zaat, H.J. Busscher (Eds.), Biomaterials Associated Infection: Immunological Aspects and Antimicrobial Strategies, Springer Science + Business Media, New York 2013, pp. 119–149, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-1031-7_6.
- [42] S. Ehlers, Immunity to tuberculosis: a delicate balance between protection and pathology, FEMS Immunol. Med. Microbiol. 23 (1999) 149–158, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1111/j.1574-695X.1999.tb01234.x.
- [43] S. Esin, G. Batoni, Natural killer cells: a coherent model for their functional role in Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection, J. Innate Immun. 7 (2015) 11–24, http://dx. doi.org/10.1159/000363321.
- [44] A. Chauhan, D. Lebeaux, J.M. Ghigo, C. Beloin, Full and broad-spectrum in vivo eradication of catheter-associated biofilms using gentamicin–EDTA antibiotic lock therapy, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 56 (2012) 6310–6318, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1128/AAC.01606-12.
- [45] G. Donelli, I. Francolini, D. Romoli, E. Guaglianone, A. Piozzi, C. Ragunath, J.B. Kaplan, Synergistic activity of dispersin B and cefamandole nafate in inhibition of staphylococcal biofilm growth on polyurethanes, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 51 (2007) 2733–2740, http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/AAC.01249-06.
- [46] N. Barraud, A. Buson, W. Jarolimek, S.A. Rice, Mannitol enhances antibiotic sensitivity of persister bacteria in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilms, PLoS One 8 (2013), e84220http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0084220.
- [47] F. Reffuveille, C. de la Fuente-Nunez, S. Mansour, R.E. Hancock, A broad-spectrum anti-biofilm peptide enhances antibiotic action against bacterial biofilms, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 58 (2014) 5363–5371, http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/ AAC.03163-14.
- [48] J.R. Morones-Ramirez, J.A. Winkler, C.S. Spina, J.J. Collins, Silver enhances antibiotic activity against gram-negative bacteria, Sci. Transl. Med. 5 (2013), 190ra181http:// dx.doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3006276.
- [49] D. Lebeaux, A. Chauhan, S. Letoffe, F. Fischer, H. de Reuse, C. Beloin, J.M. Ghigo, pHmediated potentiation of aminoglycosides kills bacterial persisters and eradicates in vivo biofilms, J. Infect. Dis. 210 (2014) 1357–1366, http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/ infdis/jiu286.

- [50] H. Mu, F. Guo, H. Niu, Q. Liu, S. Wang, J. Duan, Chitosan improves anti-biofilm efficacy of gentamicin through facilitating antibiotic penetration, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 15 (2014) 22296–22308, http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijms151222296.
- [51] A. Zhang, H. Mu, W. Zhang, G. Cui, J. Zhu, J. Duan, Chitosan coupling makes microbial biofilms susceptible to antibiotics, Sci. Rep. 3 (2013) 3364, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1038/srep03364.
- [52] G. Maisetta, G. Batoni, S. Esin, W. Florio, D. Bottai, F. Favilli, M. Campa, In vitro bactericidal activity of human beta-defensin 3 against multidrug-resistant nosocomial strains, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 50 (2006) 806–809, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1128/AAC.50.2.806-809.2006.
- [53] M.L. Mangoni, G. Maisetta, M. Di Luca, L.M. Gaddi, S. Esin, W. Florio, F.L. Brancatisano, D. Barra, M. Campa, G. Batoni, Comparative analysis of the bactericidal activities of amphibian peptide analogues against multidrug-resistant nosocomial bacterial strains, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 52 (2008) 85–91, http:// dx.doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00796-07.
- [54] M.R. Yeaman, N.Y. Yount, Mechanisms of antimicrobial peptide action and resistance, Pharmacol. Rev. 55 (2003) 27–55, http://dx.doi.org/10.1124/pr.55.1.2.
- [55] X. Chen, M. Zhang, C. Zhou, N.R. Kallenbach, D. Ren, Control of bacterial persister cells by Trp/Arg-containing antimicrobial peptides, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 77 (2011) 4878–4885, http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02440-10.
- [56] E.M. Haisma, A. de Breij, H. Chan, J.T. van Dissel, J.W. Drijfhout, P.S. Hiemstra, A. El Ghalbzouri, P.H. Nibbering, LL-37-derived peptides eradicate multidrug-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* from thermally wounded human skin equivalents, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 58 (2014) 4411–4419, http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/ AAC.02554-14.
- [57] K.A. Brogden, Antimicrobial peptides: pore formers or metabolic inhibitors in bacteria? Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 3 (2005) 238–250, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro1098.
- [58] G. Maisetta, R. Petruzzelli, F.L. Brancatisano, S. Esin, A. Vitali, M. Campa, G. Batoni, Antimicrobial activity of human hepcidin 20 and 25 against clinically relevant bacterial strains: effect of copper and acidic pH, Peptides 31 (2010) 1995–2002, http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2010.08.007.
- [59] G. Del Gaudio, L. Lombardi, G. Maisetta, S. Esin, G. Batoni, M. Sanguinetti, S. Senesi, A. Tavanti, Antifungal activity of the non cytotoxic human peptide hepcidin 20 against fluconazole resistant *Candida glabrata* in human vaginal fluid, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 57 (2013) 4314–4321, http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00904-13.
- [60] L. Lombardi, G. Maisetta, G. Batoni, A. Tavanti, Insights into the antimicrobial properties of hepcidins: advantages and drawbacks as potential therapeutic agents, Molecules 20 (2015) 6319–6341, http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/molecules20046319.
- [61] A. Tavanti, G. Maisetta, G. Del Gaudio, R. Petruzzelli, M. Sanguinetti, G. Batoni, S. Senesi, Fungicidal activity of the human peptide hepcidin 20 alone or in combination with other antifungals against *Candida glabrata* isolates, Peptides 32 (2011) 2484–2487, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2011.10.012.
- [62] G. Maisetta, A. Vitali, M.A. Scorciapino, A.C. Rinaldi, R. Petruzzelli, F.L. Brancatisano, S. Esin, A. Stringaro, M. Colone, C. Luzi, A. Bozzi, M. Campa, G. Batoni, pHdependent disruption of *Escherichia coli* ATCC 25922 and model membranes by the human antimicrobial peptides hepcidin 20 and 25, FEBS J. 280 (2013) 2842–2854, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/febs.12288.
- [63] S.C. Mansour, O.M. Pena, R.E. Hancock, Host defense peptides: front-line immunomodulators, Trends Immunol. 35 (2014) 443–450, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.it. 2014.07.004.
- [64] M.L. Mangoni, Y. Shai, Temporins and their synergism against gram-negative bacteria and in lipopolysaccharide detoxification, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 2009 (1788) 1610–1619, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2009.04.021.
- [65] D. Alves, P.M. Olívia, Mini-review: antimicrobial peptides and enzymes as promising candidates to functionalize biomaterial surfaces, Biofouling 30 (2014) 483–499, http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/08927014.2014.889120.
- [66] M. Kazemzadeh-Narbat, B.F. Lai, C. Ding, J.N. Kizhakkedathu, R.E. Hancock, R. Wang, Multilayered coating on titanium for controlled release of antimicrobial peptides for the prevention of implant-associated infections, Biomaterials 34 (2013) 5969–5977, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2013.04.036.
- [67] A.M. Piras, G. Maisetta, S. Sandreschi, M. Gazzarri, C. Bartoli, L. Grassi, S. Esin, F. Chiellini, G. Batoni, Chitosan nanoparticles loaded with the antimicrobial peptide temporin B exert a long-term antibacterial activity in vitro against clinical isolates of *Staphylococcus epidermidis*, Front. Microbiol. 6 (2015) 372, http://dx.doi.org/10. 3389/fmicb.2015.00372.
- [68] C.A. Broekhuizen, M. Sta, C.M. Vandenbroucke-Grauls, S.A. Zaat, Microscopic detection of viable *Staphylococcus epidermidis* in peri-implant tissue in experimental biomaterial-associated infection, identified by bromodeoxyuridine incorporation, Infect. Immun. 78 (2010) 954–962, http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00849-09.
- [69] C. de la Fuente-Núñez, F. Reffuveille, S.C. Mansour, S.L. Reckseidler-Zenteno, D. Hernández, G. Brackman, T. Coenye, R.E. Hancock, p-enantiomeric peptides that eradicate wild-type and multidrug-resistant biofilms and protect against lethal *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infections, Chem. Biol. 22 (2015) 196–205, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2015.01.002.
- [70] W. Xu, X. Zhu, T. Tan, W. Li, A. Shan, Design of embedded-hybrid antimicrobial peptides with enhanced cell selectivity and anti-biofilm activity, PLoS One 9 (6) (2014), e98935http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0098935.
- [71] S.M. Ribeiro, C. de la Fuente-Núñez, B. Baquir, C. Faria-Junior, O.L. Franco, R.E. Hancock, Anti-biofilm peptides increase the susceptibility of carbapenemaseproducing *Klebsiella pneumoniae* clinical isolates to β-lactam antibiotics, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 59 (2015) 3906–3912, http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/ AAC.00092-15.
- [72] G. Maisetta, M.L. Mangoni, S. Esin, G. Pichierri, A.L. Capria, F.L. Brancatisano, M. Di Luca, S. Barnini, D. Barra, M. Campa, G. Batoni, In vitro bactericidal activity of the N-terminal fragment of the frog peptide esculentin-1b (Esc 1-18) in combination

with conventional antibiotics against *Stenotrophomonas maltophilia*, Peptides 30 (2009) 1622–1626, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2009.06.004.

- [73] M. Di Luca, G. Maccari, G. Maisetta, G. Batoni, BaAMPs: the database of biofilmactive antimicrobial peptides, Biofouling 31 (2015) 193–199, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1080/08927014.2015.1021340.
- [74] G. Maisetta, M. Di Luca, S. Esin, W. Florio, F.L. Brancatisano, D. Bottai, M. Campa, G. Batoni, Evaluation of the inhibitory effects of human serum components on bactericidal activity of human beta defensin 3, Peptides 29 (2008) 1–6, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2007.10.013.
- [75] F.L. Brancatisano, G. Maisetta, M. Di Luca, S. Esin, D. Bottai, R. Bizzarri, M. Campa, G. Batoni, Inhibitory effect of the human liver-derived antimicrobial peptide hepcidin 20 on biofilms of polysaccharide intercellular adhesin (PIA)-positive and PIA-negative strains of *Staphylococcus epidermidis*, Biofouling 30 (2014) 435–446, http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/08927014.2014.888062.
- [76] A. Pompilio, V. Črocetta, M. Scocchi, S. Pomponio, V. Di Vincenzo, M. Mardirossian, G. Gherardi, E. Fiscarelli, G. Dicuonzo, R. Gennaro, G. Di Bonaventura, Potential novel therapeutic strategies in cystic fibrosis: antimicrobial and anti-biofilm activity of natural and designed α-helical peptides against *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, and *Stenotrophomonas maltophilia*, BMC Microbiol. 12 (2012) 145, http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2180-12-145.
- [77] A. Lourenço, T. Coenye, D.M. Goeres, G. Donelli, A.S. Azevedo, H. Ceri, F.L. Coelho, H.C. Flemming, T. Juhna, S.P. Lopes, R. Oliveira, A. Oliver, M.E. Shirtliff, A.M. Sousa, P. Stoodley, M.O. Pereira, N.F. Azevedo, Minimum information about a biofilm experiment (MIABiE): standards for reporting experiments and data on sessile microbial communities living at interfaces, Pathog. Dis. 70 (2014) 250–256, http:// dx.doi.org/10.1111/2049-632X.12146.
- [78] A. de Breij, J. Gaddy, J. van der Meer, R. Koning, A. Koster, P. van den Broek, L. Actis, P. Nibbering, L. Dijkshoorn, CsuA/BABCDE-dependent pili are not involved in the adherence of *Acinetobacter baumannii* ATCC19606(T) to human airway epithelial cells and their inflammatory response, Res. Microbiol. 160 (2009) 213–218, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.resmic.2009.01.002.
- [79] M.J. Anderson, P.J. Parks, M.L. Peterson, A mucosal model to study microbial biofilm development and anti-biofilm therapeutics, J. Microbiol. Methods 92 (2013) 201–208, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.mimet.2012.12.003.
- [80] J. Pimentel-Filho Nde, M.C. Martins, G.B. Nogueira, H.C. Mantovani, M.C. Vanetti, Bovicin HC5 and nisin reduce *Staphylococcus aureus* adhesion to polystyrene and change the hydrophobicity profile and Gibbs free energy of adhesion, Int. J. Food Microbiol. 190 (2014) 1–8, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2014.08.004.
- [81] L.A. Segev-Zarko, R. Saar-Dover, V. Brumfeld, M.L. Mangoni, Y. Shai, Mechanisms of biofilm inhibition and degradation by antimicrobial peptides, Biochem. J. 468 (2015) 259–270, http://dx.doi.org/10.1042/BJ20141251.
- [82] C. Zhu, H. Tan, T. Cheng, H. Shen, J. Shao, Y. Guo, S. Shi, X. Zhang, Human β-defensin 3 inhibits antibiotic-resistant *Staphylococcus* biofilm formation, J. Surg. Res. 183 (1) (2013 Jul) 204–213, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jss.2012.11.048.
- [83] C. de la Fuente-Núñez, F. Reffuveille, E.F. Haney, S.K. Straus, R.E.W. Hancock, Broadspectrum anti-biofilm peptide that targets a cellular stress response, PLoS Pathog. 10 (2014), e1004152http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1004152.
- [84] C. de la Fuente-Núñez, V. Korolik, M. Bains, U. Nguyen, E.B. Breidenstein, S. Horsman, S. Lewenza, L. Burrows, R.E. Hancock, Inhibition of bacterial biofilm formation and swarming motility by a small synthetic cationic peptide, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 56 (2012) 2696–2704, http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00064-12.
- [85] J. Overhage, A. Campisano, M. Bains, E.C. Torfs, B.H. Rehm, R.E. Hancock, Human host defense peptide LL-37 prevents bacterial biofilm formation, Infect. Immun. 76 (2008) 4176–4182, http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00318-08.
- [86] X. Feng, K. Sambanthamoorthy, T. Palys, C. Paranavitana, The human antimicrobial peptide LL-37 and its fragments possess both antimicrobial and antibiofilm activities against multidrug-resistant Acinetobacter baumannii, Peptides 49 (2013) 131–137, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2013.09.007.
- [87] C. Nagant, B. Pitts, K. Nazmi, M. Vandenbranden, J.G. Bolscher, P.S. Stewart, J.P. Dehaye, Identification of peptides derived from the human antimicrobial peptide LL-37 active against biofilms formed by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* using a library of truncated fragments, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 56 (2012) 5698–5708, http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00918-12.
- [88] A. Hocquellet, C. le Senechal, B. Garbay, Importance of the disulfide bridges in the antibacterial activity of human hepcidin, Peptides 36 (2012) 303–307, http://dx. doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2012.06.001.
- [89] O. Cirioni, A. Giacometti, R. Ghiselli, W. Kamysz, F. Orlando, F. Mocchegiani, C. Silvestri, A. Licci, L. Chiodi, J. Lukasiak, V. Saba, G. Scalise, Citropin 1.1-treated central venous catheters improve the efficacy of hydrophobic antibiotics in the treatment of experimental staphylococcal catheter-related infection, Peptides 27 (2006) 1210–1216, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2005. 10.007.
- [90] P.H. Kwakman, A.A. te Velde, C.M. Vandenbroucke-Grauls, S.J. van Deventer, S.A. Zaat, Treatment and prevention of *Staphylococcus epidermidis* experimental biomaterial-associated infection by bactericidal peptide 2, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 50 (2006) 3977–3983, http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00575-06.
- [91] Z. Song, H. Wu, P. Mygind, D. Raventos, C. Sonksen, H.H. Kristensen, N. Høiby, Effects of intratracheal administration of novispirin G10 on a rat model of mucoid *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* lung infection, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 49 (2005) 3868–3874, http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/AAC.49.9. 3868-3874.2005.
- [92] L. Steinstraesser, B.F. Tack, A.J. Waring, T. Hong, L.M. Boo, M.H. Fan, D.I. Remick, G.L. Su, R.I. Lehrer, S.C. Wang, Activity of novispirin G10 against *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in vitro and in infected burns, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 46 (2002) 1837–1844, http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/AAC.46.6.1837-1844.2002.

- [93] S.K. Chennupati, A.G. Chiu, E. Tamashiro, C.A. Banks, M.B. Cohen, B.S. Bleier, J.M. Kofonow, E. Tam, N.A. Cohen, Effects of an LL-37-derived antimicrobial peptide in an animal model of biofilm *Pseudomonas* sinusitis, Am. J. Rhinol. Allergy 23 (2009) 46–51, http://dx.doi.org/10.2500/ajra.2009.23.3261.
- [94] J. Menousek, B. Mishra, M.L. Hanke, C.E. Heim, T. Kielian, G. Wang, Database screening and in vivo efficacy of antimicrobial peptides against methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* USA300, Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents 39 (2012) 402–406, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2012.02.003.
- [95] G. Gao, D. Lange, K. Hilpert, J. Kindrachuk, Y. Zou, J.T. Cheng, M. Kazemzadeh-Narbat, K. Yu, R. Wang, S.K. Straus, D.E. Brooks, B.H. Chew, R.E. Hancock, J.N. Kizhakkedathu, The biocompatibility and bio film resistance of implant coatings based on hydrophilic polymer brushes conjugated with antimicrobial peptides, Biomaterials 32 (2011) 3899–3909, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials. 2011.02.013.
- [96] E.F. Haney, S.C. Mansour, A.L. Hilchie, C. de la Fuente-Núñez, R.E. Hancock, High throughput screening methods for assessing antibiofilm and immunomodulatory activities of synthetic peptides, Peptides 71 (2015) 276–285, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1016/j.peptides.2015.03.015.
- [97] A.K. Marr, W.J. Gooderham, R.E. Hancock, Antibacterial peptides for therapeutic use: obstacles and realistic outlook, Curr. Opin. Pharmacol. 6 (2006) 468–472, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.coph.2006.04.006.
- [98] M. Otto, Bacterial evasion of antimicrobial peptides by biofilm formation, Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol. 306 (2006) 251–258, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/3-540-29916-5_10.
- [99] L. Montanaro, A. Poggi, L. Visai, S. Ravaioli, D. Campoccia, P. Speziale, C.R. Arciola, Extracellular DNA in biofilms, Int. J. Artif. Organs 34 (2011) 824–831, http://dx. doi.org/10.5301/ijao.5000051.
- [100] C.B. Whitchurch, T. Tolker-Nielsen, P.C. Ragas, J.S. Mattick, Extracellular DNA required for bacterial biofilm formation, Science 295 (2002) 1487, http://dx.doi. org/10.1126/science.295.5559.1487.
- [101] M. Allesen-Holm, K.B. Barken, L. Yang, M. Klausen, J.S. Webb, S. Kjelleberg, S. Molin, M. Givskov, T. Tolker-Nielsen, A characterization of DNA release in *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa cultures and biofilms, Mol. Microbiol. 59 (2006) 1114–1128, http:// dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.2005.05008.x.
- [102] E.S. Gloag, L. Turnbull, A. Huang, P. Vallotton, H. Wang, L.M. Nolan, L. Mililli, C. Hunt, J. Lu, S.R. Osvath, L.G. Monahan, R. Cavaliere, I.G. Charles, M.P. Wand, M.L. Gee, R. Prabhakar, C.B. Whitchurch, Self-organization of bacterial biofilms is facilitated by extracellular DNA, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 110 (2013) 11541–11546, http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1218898110.
- [103] S.E. Finkel, R. Kolter, DNA as a nutrient: novel role for bacterial competence gene homologs, J. Bacteriol. 183 (2001) 6288–6293, http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/JB.183. 21.6288-6293.2001.
- [104] H. Mulcahy, L. Charron-Mazenod, S. Lewenza, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* produces an extracellular deoxyribonuclease that is required for utilization of DNA as a nutrient source, Environ. Microbiol. 12 (2010) 1621–1629, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j. 1462-2920.2010.02208.x.
- [105] H. Mulcahy, L. Charron-Mazenod, S. Lewenza, Extracellular DNA chelates cations and induces antibiotic resistance in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilms, PLoS Pathog. 4 (11) (2008), e1000213http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1000213.
- [106] J.B. Kaplan, E.A. Izano, P. Gopal, M.T. Karwacki, S. Kim, J.L. Bose, K.W. Bayles, A.R. Horswill, Low levels of β-lactam antibiotics induce extracellular DNA release and biofilm formation in *Staphylococcus aureus*, mBio 3 (4) (2012), e00198-12http:// dx.doi.org/10.1128/mBio.00198-12.
- [107] N. Doroshenko, B.S. Tseng, R.P. Howlin, J. Deacon, J.A. Wharton, P.J. Thurner, B.F. Gilmore, M.R. Parsek, P. Stoodley, Extracellular DNA impedes the transport of vancomycin in *Staphylococcus epidermidis* biofilms preexposed to subinhibitory concentrations of vancomycin, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 58 (2014) 7273–7282, http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/AAC.03132-14.
- [108] M. Okshevsky, V.R. Regina, R.L. Meyer, Extracellular DNA as a target for biofilm control, Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 33 (2014) 73–80, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. copbio.2014.12.002.
- [109] J.B. Kaplan, K. LoVetri, S.T. Cardona, S. Madhyastha, I. Sadovskaya, S. Jabbouri, E.A. Izano, Recombinant human DNase I decreases biofilm and increases antimicrobial susceptibility in staphylococci, J. Antibiot. (Tokyo) 65 (2012) 73–77, http://dx.doi. org/10.1038/ja.2011.113.
- [110] A. Baelo, R. Levato, E. Julián, A. Crespo, J. Astola, J. Gavaldà, E. Engel, M.A. Mateos-Timoneda, E. Torrents, Disassembling bacterial extracellular matrix with DNase-coated nanoparticles to enhance antibiotic delivery in biofilm infections, J. Control. Release 209 (2015) 150–158, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. jconrel.2015.04.028.
- [111] H.J. Fuchs, D.S. Borowitz, D.H. Christiansen, E.M. Morris, M.L. Nash, B.W. Ramsey, B.J. Rosenstein, A.L. Smith, M.E. Wohl, Effect of aerosolized recombinant human DNase on exacerbations of respiratory symptoms and on pulmonary function in patients with cystic fibrosis. The Pulmozyme Study Group, N. Engl. J. Med. 331 (1994) 637–642, http://dx.doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199409083311003.
- [112] E.A. Jones, G. McGillivary, L.O. Bakaletz, Extracellular DNA within a nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae-induced biofilm binds human beta defensin-3 and reduces its antimicrobial activity, J. Innate Immun. 5 (2013) 24–38, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1159/000339961.
- [113] T. Brandt, S. Breitenstein, H. von der Hardt, B. Tummler, DNA concentration and length in sputum of patients with cystic fibrosis during inhalation with recombinant human DNase, Thorax 50 (1995) 880–882, http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/thx.50. 8.880.
- [114] D.J. Weiner, R. Bucki, P.A. Janmey, The antimicrobial activity of the cathelicidin LL-37 is inhibited by F-actin bundles and restored by gelsolin, Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 28 (2003) 738–745, http://dx.doi.org/10.1165/rcmb.2002-01910C.

- [115] V. Brinkmann, U. Reichard, C. Goosmann, B. Fauler, Y. Uhlemann, D.S. Weiss, Y. Weinrauch, A. Zychlinsky, Neutrophil extracellular traps kill bacteria, Science 303 (2004) 1532–1535, http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/science.1092385.
- [116] S. Lewenza, Extracellular DNA-induced antimicrobial peptide resistance mechanisms in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, Front. Microbiol. 4 (2013) 21, http://dx.doi. org/10.3389/fmicb.2013.00021.
- [117] L. Johnson, S.R. Horsman, L. Charron-Mazenod, A.L. Turnbull, H. Mulcahy, M.G. Surette, S. Lewenza, Extracellular DNA-induced antimicrobial peptide resistance in *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium, BMC Microbiol. 13 (2013) 115, http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2180-13-115.
- [118] O. Ciofu, T. Tolker-Nielsen, P.O. Jensen, H. Wang, N. Høiby, Antimicrobial resistance, respiratory tract infections and role of biofilms in lung infections in cystic fibrosis patients, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 85 (2014) 7–23, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.addr. 2014.11.017.
- [119] M.J. Franklin, D.E. Nivens, J.T. Weadge, P. Lynne Howell, Biosynthesis of the Pseudomonas aeruginosa extracellular polysaccharides, alginate, Pel, and Psl, Front. Microbiol. 2011 (167) (2011) 1–16, http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2011.00167.
- [120] M.D. Parkins, R.A. Floto, Emerging bacterial pathogens and changing concepts of bacterial pathogenesis in cystic fibrosis, J. Cyst. Fibros. 14 (2015) 293–304, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jcf.2015.03.012.
- [121] C. Vuotto, F. Longo, M.P. Balice, G. Donelli, P.E. Varaldo, Antibiotic resistance related to biofilm formation in *Klebsiella pneumoniae*, Pathogens 3 (2014) 743–758, http:// dx.doi.org/10.3390/pathogens3030743.
- [122] C. Chan, L.L. Burrows, C.M. Deber, Helix induction in antimicrobial peptides by alginate in biofilms, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 38749–38754, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1074/jbc.M406044200.
- [123] C. Chan, L.L. Burrows, C.M. Deber, Alginate as an auxiliary bacterial membrane: binding of membrane-active peptides by polysaccharides, J. Pept. Res. 65 (2005) 343–351, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-3011.2005.00217.x.
- [124] Y. Herasimenka, M. Benincasa, M. Mattiuzzo, P. Cescutti, R. Gennaro, R. Rizzo, Interaction of antimicrobial peptides with bacterial polysaccharides from lung pathogens, Peptides 26 (2005) 1127–1132, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2005. 01.020.
- [125] M. Foschiatti, P. Cescutti, A. Tossi, R. Rizzo, Inhibition of cathelicidin activity by bacterial exopolysaccharides, Mol. Microbiol. 72 (2009) 1137–1146, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2009.06707.x.
- [126] M. Benincasa, M. Mattiuzzo, Y. Herasimenka, P. Cescutti, R. Rizzo, R. Gennaro, Activity of antimicrobial peptides in the presence of polysaccharides produced by pulmonary pathogens, J. Pept. Sci. 15 (2009) 595–600, http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ psc.1142.
- [127] H.H. Kuo, C. Chan, L.L. Burrows, C.M. Deber, Hydrophobic interactions in complexes of antimicrobial peptides with bacterial polysaccharides, Chem. Biol. Drug Des. 69 (2007) 405–412, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1747-0285.2007.00518.x.
- [128] M. Stark, L.P. Liu, C.M. Deber, Cationic hydrophobic peptides with antimicrobial activity, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 46 (2002) 3585–3590, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1128/AAC.46.11.3585-3590.2002.
- [129] L.M. Yin, S. Lee, J.S. Mak, A.S. Helmy, C.M. Deber, Differential binding of L- vs. Disomers of cationic antimicrobial peptides to the biofilm exopolysaccharide alginate, Protein Pept. Lett. 20 (2013) 843–847, http://dx.doi.org/10.2174/ 0929866511320080001.
- [130] S.Y. Tong, J.S. Davis, E. Eichenberger, T.L. Holland, V.G. Fowler Jr., *Staphylococcus aureus* infections: epidemiology, pathophysiology, clinical manifestations, and management, Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 28 (2015) 603–661, http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/ CMR.00134-14.
- [131] F. Gomes, P. Teixeira, R. Oliveira, Mini-review: Staphylococcus epidermidis as the most frequent cause of nosocomial infections: old and new fighting strategies, Biofouling 30 (2014) 131–141, http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/08927014. 2013.848858.
- [132] P.D. Fey, M.E. Olson, Current concepts in biofilm formation of *Staphylococcus epidermidis*, Future Microbiol 5 (2010) 917–933, http://dx.doi.org/10.2217/fmb. 10.56.
- [133] M. Otto, Staphylococcal biofilms, Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol. 322 (2008) 207–228, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-75418-3_10.
- [134] S.E. Cramton, M. Ulrich, F. Götz, G. Döring, Anaerobic conditions induce expression of polysaccharide intercellular adhesin in *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Staphylococcus epidermidis*, Infect. Immun. 69 (2001) 4079–4085, http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/IAI. 69.6.4079–4085.2001.
- [135] C.R. Arciola, D. Campoccia, S. Ravaioli, L. Montanaro, Polysaccharide intercellular adhesin in biofilm: structural and regulatory aspects, Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 5 (2015) 7, http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2015.00007.
- [136] J.L. Brooks, K.K. Jefferson, Phase variation of poly-N-acetylglucosamine expression in *Staphylococcus aureus*, PLoS Pathog. 10 (7) (2014), e1004292http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004292.
- [137] S.E. Cramton, C. Gerke, N.F. Schnell, W.W. Nichols, F. Götz, The intercellular adhesion (ica) locus is present in *Staphylococcus aureus* and is required for biofilm formation, Infect. Immun. 67 (1999) 5427–5433.
- [138] C. Vuong, J.M. Voyich, E.R. Fischer, K.R. Braughton, A.R. Whitney, F.R. DeLeo, M. Otto, Polysaccharide intercellular adhesin (PIA) protects *Staphylococcus epidermidis* against major components of the human innate immune system, Cell. Microbiol. 6 (2004) 269–275, http://dx.doi.org/10.1046/j.1462-5822.2004.00367.x.
- [139] C. Vuong, S. Kocianova, J.M. Voyich, Y. Yao, E.R. Fischer, F.R. DeLeo, M. Otto, A crucial role for exopolysaccharide modification in bacterial biofilm formation, immune evasion, and virulence, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 54881–54886, http://dx. doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M411374200.
- [140] X. Wang, J.F. Preston III, T. Romeo, The pgaABCD locus of *Escherichia coli* promotes the synthesis of a polysaccharide adhesin required for biofilm formation, J.

Bacteriol. 186 (2004) 2724–2734, http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/JB.186.9.2724-2734. 2004.

- [141] S.J. Pamp, M. Gjermansen, T. Tolker-Nielsen, The biofilm matrix: a sticky framework, in: S. Kjelleberg, M. Givskov (Eds.), The Biofilm Mode of Life: Mechanisms and Adaptations, Horizon Bioscience, Norfolk, United Kingdom 2007, pp. 37–69.
- [142] G. Kogan, I. Sadovskaya, P. Chaignon, A. Chokr, S. Jabbouri, Biofilms of clinical strains of *Staphylococcus* that do not contain polysaccharide intercellular adhesin, FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 255 (2006) 11–16, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968. 2005.00043.x.
- [143] H. Rohde, E.C. Burandt, N. Siemssen, L. Frommelt, C. Burdelski, S. Wurster, S. Scherpe, A.P. Davies, L.G. Harris, M.A. Horstkotte, J.K. Knobloch, C. Ragunath, J.B. Kaplan, D. Mack, Polysaccharide intercellular adhesin or protein factors in biofilm accumulation of *Staphylococcus epidermidis* and *Staphylococcus aureus* isolated from prosthetic hip and knee joint infections, Biomaterials 28 (2007) 1711–1720, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2006.11.046.
- [144] P. Speziale, G. Pietrocola, T.J. Foster, J.A. Geoghegan, Protein-based biofilm matrices in staphylococci, Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 4 (2014) 171, http://dx.doi.org/10. 3389/fcimb.2014.00171.
- [145] A. Peschel, M. Otto, Phenol-soluble modulins and staphylococcal infection, Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 11 (2013) 667–673, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro3110.
- [146] R. Wang, B.A. Khan, G.Y. Cheung, T.H. Bach, M. Jameson-Lee, K.F. Kong, S.Y. Queck, M. Otto, *Staphylococcus epidermidis* surfactant peptides promote biofilm maturation and dissemination of biofilm-associated infection in mice, J. Clin. Invest. 121 (2011) 238–248, http://dx.doi.org/10.1172/JCI42520.
- [147] C. Gil, C. Solano, S. Burgui, C. Latasa, B. Garcia, A. Toledo-Arana, I. Lasa, J. Valle, Biofilm matrix exoproteins induce a protective immune response against *Staphylococcus aureus* biofilm infection, Infect. Immun. 82 (2014) 1017–1029, http://dx.doi. org/10.1128/IAI.01419-13.
- [148] M. Duperthuy, A.E. Sjöström, D. Sabharwal, F. Damghani, B.E. Uhlin, S.N. Wai, Role of the Vibrio cholerae matrix protein Bap1 in cross-resistance to antimicrobial peptides, PLoS Pathog. 9 (10) (2013), e1003620http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal. ppat.1003620.

- [149] F.L. Brancatisano, G. Maisetta, F. Barsotti, S. Esin, M. Miceli, M. Gabriele, M.R. Giuca, M. Campa, G. Batoni, Reduced human beta defensin 3 in individuals with periodontal disease, J. Dent. Res. 90 (2011) 241–245, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1177/0022034510385686.
- [150] G. Maisetta, F.L. Brancatisano, S. Esin, M. Campa, G. Batoni, Gingipains produced by Porphyromonas gingivalis ATCC49417 degrade human-β-defensin 3 and affect peptide's antibacterial activity in vitro, Peptides 32 (2011) 1073–1077, http://dx. doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2011.02.003.
- [151] C. Wickström, G. Svensäter, Salivary gel-forming mucin MUC5B a nutrient for dental plaque bacteria, Oral Microbiol. Immunol. 23 (2008) 177–182, http://dx. doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-302X.2007.00407.x.
- [152] R. Bucki, D.B. Namiot, Z. Namiot, P.B. Savage, P.A. Janmey, Salivary mucins inhibit antibacterial activity of the cathelicidin-derived LL-37 peptide but not the cationic steroid CSA-13, J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 62 (2008) 329–335, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1093/jac/dkn176.
- [153] L. Hall-Stoodley, P. Stoodley, S. Kathju, N. Høiby, C. Moser, J.W. Costerton, A. Moter, T. Bjarnsholt, Towards diagnostic guidelines for biofilm-associated infections, FEMS Immunol. Med. Microbiol. 65 (2012) 127–145, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j. 1574-695X.2012.00968.x.
- [154] G. Maccari, M. Di Luca, R. Nifosì, In silico design of antimicrobial peptides, Methods Mol. Biol. 1268 (2015) 195–219, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-2285-7_9.
- [155] G. Maccari, M. Di Luca, R. Nifosí, F. Cardarelli, G. Signore, C. Boccardi, A. Bifone, Antimicrobial peptides design by evolutionary multiobjective optimization, PLoS Comput. Biol. 9 (9) (2013), e1003212http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi. 1003212.
- [156] P. Naves, G. del Prado, L. Huelves, V. Rodríguez-Cerrato, V. Ruiz, M.C. Ponte, F. Soriano, Effects of human serum albumin, ibuprofen and N-acetyl-L-cysteine against biofilm formation by pathogenic *Escherichia coli* strains, J. Hosp. Infect. 76 (2010) 165–170, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2010.05.011.
- [157] A. Brandelli, Nanostructures as promising tools for delivery of antimicrobial peptides, Mini-Rev. Med. Chem. 12 (2012) 731–741, http://dx.doi.org/10.2174/ 138955712801264774.